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Morguard Corporation owns and manages a diversified portfolio compris-
ing more than 54 million square feet of high-quality commercial properties 
and over 12,600 multi-unit residential suites. With a reputation for bold 
leadership, proven results and steady, long-term growth, the Company 
employs over 1,300 dedicated employees in Canada and the southeastern 
United States. 

Morguard focuses on three primary businesses: 

Real eState SeRviCeS
Morguard serves major institutional clients and private investors by providing 
a full range of real estate services. these include acquisitions, development, 
asset management, property management and research and valuation 
services.

Real PRoPeRty inveStMentS  
Morguard owns a diversified portfolio of 100 retail, multi-unit residential, 
office and industrial properties located in major cities across Canada and 
the southeastern United States.

Real eState inveStMent tRUSt
Morguard Reit is a publicly traded, closed-ended trust that offers investors 
the opportunity to participate in a high-quality portfolio of office, retail 
and mixed-use Canadian real estate assets.
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 STRENGTH
 IN THE  
 FOUNDATION
Sound growth requires a strong foundation. And for our future 
growth, Morguard has all the necessary elements in place, 
including our diversified portfolio of high-quality properties, 
our record of strong and growing cash flow, and the carefully 
planned structure of our organization, which is staffed by  
truly talented real estate professionals. Our financial strength 
is fortified by our ability to generate consistent returns, as well 
as our ready access to capital. Morguard is well positioned to 
grow by design.



2 MORGUARD CORPORATION

 Developing
 for aDDeD 
 valUe
for Morguard, growth flows from the energetic and creative 
application of our skills in development, redevelopment and 
infill projects. Through them, we add value to our owned and 
managed portfolios and create new streams of revenue for 
the future. over the past decade, we have completed more 
than $1 billion in large-scale development and redevelopment 
projects. in 2010, we successfully completed two of our largest 
development projects and completed the initial phase of a 
third. our position as a leading developer is another avenue 
for our growth.
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 FINANCING 
 WITH
 INNOVATION
Financial strength provides Morguard with the ability to grow, 
and innovation drives our approach to finance. We pay close 
attention to our balance sheet, both to minimize risk and to 
maximize flexibility. Then, by continually strengthening relation-
ships with business partners, clients and lenders, we ensure 
ready access to both debt and equity capital as it’s needed. 
In the past year, we raised capital through refinancing, the 
sale of assets and the launch of a new family of real estate 
investment vehicles for institutional investors. For Morguard, 
this model is capital to grow on.
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 EXPANDING 
 STRATEGICALLY
At Morguard, growing by design means intelligently pursuing 
a variety of avenues and opportunities with a singled-minded 
strategy – from expanding our real estate products and services 
to adding clients to extending our geographic reach. As well 
as our substantial development and redevelopment projects, 
we have expanded our pool of private institutional and public 
markets funds and increased our portfolio through acquisitions 
made on our own or in concert with institutional investors. 
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K. (RAI) SAHI
CHAIRMAN AND  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CHAIRMAN’s
MessAge

Morguard also completed three of our largest development projects – 
the expansion of Bramalea City Centre in Brampton, Ontario, Phase 1  
of the Uptown redevelopment in Victoria, British Columbia, and Corus 
Quay in Toronto, Ontario (the NAIOP Office Development of the Year),  
co-developed with Build Toronto. The successful completion of these 
projects positions Morguard as a leading Canadian developer. Over the 
last decade, the Company has completed over $1 billion in large-scale 
development and redevelopment projects. At present, Morguard has 
$500 million of future development, redevelopment and infill projects  
underway or in the planning stages.

subsequent to year end, the U.s. portfolio was also expanded through 
the acquisition of Boynton Town Center, Boynton Beach, Florida. This newly 
constructed shopping centre is an excellent addition to our U.s. portfolio. 
Comprising 408,700 square feet, the centre is anchored by a 184,700  
superTarget (shadow anchor) store, Best Buy and Michaels. 

In 2010, the Company’s high-quality, diversified portfolio continued to  
deliver steady, reliable results. Quality tenants in long-term leases contin-
ued to generate dependable cash flows. strategic acquisitions and the  
completion of large scale development and redevelopment projects  
continued to increase the value and stature of our owned and managed 
portfolio. And Morguard’s constant attention to maintaining a conservative 
balance sheet served to further strengthen the Company’s fundamentals. 
The aggregate performance resulted in a solid cash reserve and greater 
access to capital – positioning Morguard for substantial future growth.

The highlight of 2010 was the acquisition of Place Innovation, 
a four-building interconnected office complex in the Montreal 
borough of saint-Laurent, Quebec, by Morguard Corporation 
and Morguard ReIT. This high-quality property is located within 
Technoparc Montréal, the largest technology park in Canada, 
and contains 890,000 square feet of leasable area located on  
a 126-acre site that includes 56 acres of land available for  
future development. The complex is currently 99% leased, 
with the two largest tenants occupying approximately 60% of 
the rentable space.
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Morguard’s focused efforts throughout the year are evident in year end 
results. In 2010, Morguard’s total revenues were $350 million, up from 
$349 million in 2009. Funds from operations in 2010 were $119 million, or 
$8.76 per share, compared to $114 million, or $8.14 per share, for the same 
period in 2009. Achieving this 7.6% increase in funds from operations per 
share during a challenging time is a testament to Morguard and the ability 
of its experienced management team to execute it’s strategy. Net operat-
ing income, which represents gross profits from properties, increased to 
$152 million in 2010 compared to $151 million in 2009. Both revenues and 
net operating income were negatively affected by the strengthening of the 
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar. For instance, “same currency” 
net operating income increased year over year by approximately $5 million, 
or 3.3%. Morguard’s share price closed the year at $48.50, an increase  
of 45.7% in relation to 2009, reflecting a year of determined work on the 
portfolio and the recovery of the capital markets. 

The solid financial performance mentioned above reflects Morguard’s 
dedication to serving and retaining high-quality tenants. During the eco-
nomic swings of 2010, Morguard maintained strong occupancy rates across 
the portfolio.

In Canada, Morguard’s retail portfolio finished the year with a 97.5% occu-
pancy rate, up from 95.2% in 2009. The office and industrial portfolio held 
steady at approximately 92.6%. And the occupancy rate of the multi-unit 
residential portfolio grew from 95.1% in 2009 up to 97.5% in 2010.

In the U.S., the average occupancy rate for the retail portfolio increased 
from 88.8% in 2009 to 92.1% in 2010, and the multi-unit residential portfo-
lio increased from 89.6% in 2009 to 93.8%. 

Once again, these solid levels underscore Morguard’s high-quality tenants, 
high-quality properties and the corporation’s commitment to best practices 
and exceptional service.

Bramalea City Centre, Brampton, Ontario
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Morguard’s management and advisory services to major institutional  
clients and private investors continued to be an important component  
of the corporation’s business model and long-term strategy. In 2010,  
Morguard expanded its client base by successfully attracting new institu-
tional investors. With these additions, Morguard’s third-party assets under 
management (excluding Morguard REIT) are currently valued at $6.0 billion 
compared to $5.5 billion in 2009, representing a 9.1% increase. We are 
extremely pleased with these results.

Morguard Corporation also continues to benefit from the solid operational 
performance of Morguard REIT. Net operating income generated by the 
REIT’s property portfolio grew to $124 million in 2010, reflecting an 8.8% 
increase over the $114 million reported in 2009. Funds from operations 
totalled $73 million in 2010, up from $67 million in 2009, for an increase  
of 8.9%. 

As mentioned at the outset, a prerequisite for stability and success is a 
commitment to balance sheet strength. Mortgage financings represent  
an important source of Morguard’s third-party capital. In 2010, Morguard 
executed $177 million of first mortgage financings at a weighted average 
interest rate of 4.74%. The Company has limited mortgage maturities in 
the next two years and currently has over $200 million of cash, undrawn 
bank lines and short-term loans.

Other capital was raised through the sale of a 50% interest in Prairie Mall, 
Grande Prairie, Alberta, to Morguard REIT. This transaction is an example 
of Morguard’s flexibility in structuring transactions that provide value to 
our investors. Morguard also raised fresh capital through our family of real 
estate investment vehicles that allow institutional investors to participate 
in large income producing asset pools. MIL Industrial Fund II (a private 
institutional vehicle) and Morguard Sunstone Real Estate Income Fund 
(TSX-V: MSN) were both launched with much success during 2010, and 
plans are well advanced to add private retail and residential funds.  

Uptown, Victoria, British Columbia
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On the important topic of corporate sustainability and responsibility (CSR) 
Morguard continued to take a leadership role. The Company proudly 
achieved BOMA BESt green building certification for 16 retail properties 
and 46 office properties across Canada. Five of Morguard’s new develop-
ment properties have been submitted for LEED (Leadership in Energy and 
Environmental Design) certification. The commitment to greener buildings 
reduces energy costs, maximizes performance and builds important brand 
equity for Morguard.

The importance of Morguard’s stability and long-term planning remained 
evident during the shifting economic tides of 2010. Throughout this period, 
Morguard remained focused on its core strategy, which has been built on 
conservatism, strength and experience. The Company’s strategy allows it 
to be defensive yet flexible enough to take advantage of opportunities 
when circumstances are appropriate. 

Morguard will continue to adhere to a strategy focused on long-term,  
reliable results. As always, high-quality properties, sound balance sheets, 
new revenue generating platforms and prudent management will remain 
at the core of the business model. 

As of this publication, Morguard Corporation’s diversified portfolio consists 
of 100 retail, multi-unit residential, office and industrial properties com-
prising 7.1 million square feet of commercial leasable area and over 10,000 
apartment suites. Moving forward, Morguard intends to aggressively seek 
growth opportunities in both Canada and the United States in 2011. 

In closing, Morguard stands confident in its ability to perform through all 
economic cycles and serve our loyal shareholders well. This confidence is 
based on a prudent, long-term strategy that has historically and consis-
tently achieved gratifying results.
 

K. (Rai) Sahi
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

A note to shareholders: Morguard’s financial numbers will be reported  
differently in 2011. The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has mandated 
a move from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) beginning January 2011. 
The most significant change under IFRS will see Morguard value its real  
estate portfolio and its investment in Morguard REIT at fair value instead of 
historical cost. This move to fair value accounting will have a material impact 
on our balance sheet and will provide a better indication of underlying value. 

CJ22423 Text.indd   8 11-03-29   5:06 PM



92 010 AnnuAl report

MULTI-UNIT RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES 
 
Canada

 
 Property Province No. of units

Square 104 AB 278

The Arista ON 459

5  The Bay Club ON 293

4  The Colonnade ON 157

The Elmwoods ON 322

1563 Mississauga Valley Blvd. ON 168

The Forestwoods ON 300

1405 Mississauga Valley Blvd. ON 168

Leaside Towers ON 989

The Maplewoods ON 300

Margaret Place ON 472

Meadowvale Gardens ON 325

6  131 Queen Street ON 36

Rideau Towers 1 ON 287

Rideau Towers 2 ON 380

Rideau Towers 3 ON 474

    Rideau Towers 4 ON 400

Rouge Valley Residence ON 396

Tomken Place ON 142

The Valleywoods ON 373

Condominium Units ON 4

Subtotal  6,723

MORgUARD CORPORATION  
PORTfOLIO SUMMARy

  
 
U.S.

 
Property State No. of units

Bel Air AL 202

Hampton Park AL 300

Lafayette Square AL 675

Pine Bend AL 152

  2  Emerald Lake FL 311

Governors Gate FL 240

3  Governors Gate II FL 204

Jamestown FL 177

Woodcliff FL 184

Colonial Manor LA 48

Garden Lane LA 261

1  Georgian LA 135

Greenbrier LA 144

Magnolia Place LA 148

Steeplechase LA 192

Villages of Williamsburg LA 194

Riva Pointe (51%) NJ 13

Subtotal  3,580

Total Multi-Unit Residential Units 10,303

 •1 

 •2  •4 

 •3 

 •5 

 •6 
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U.S.

 
Property State Leasable Sq. Ft.

Florida Shores FL  79,600 

  5  Lantana Plaza FL  245,000 

Rainbow Square FL  116,000 

Town & Country FL  197,000 

Weeki Wachee Village FL  82,300 

  2  Westward FL  222,000 

Airline Park LA  54,000 

Azalea Gardens LA  45,000 

Colonial LA  45,000 

Gonzales Plaza LA  73,000 

North Shore Square LA  429,000 

  4  Southland Mall LA  448,000 

Southwood (50%) LA  20,000 

Westgate LA  175,000 

Westland LA  109,000 

Subtotal  2,339,900

Total Retail Leasable Sq. Ft.  3,923,600

RETAIL PROPERTIES 
 
Canada

 
Property Province Leasable Sq. Ft.

Prairie Mall  AB 147,000 

1  Bramalea City Centre (20.7%) ON 286,700 

3  Centerpoint ON 605,000 

Charles Promenade (75%) ON – 

The Colonnade  ON 96,000 

East York Town Centre ON 384,000 

Guildwood Village ON 52,000 

100 Cavell Avenue ON 5,600 

Yonge McGill ON 7,400 

Subtotal  1,583,700

 •1 

 •2  •3 

 •4 

 •5 
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OFFICE/INDUSTRIAL/HOTEL  
 
Canada

 
Property Province Leasable Sq. Ft.

444 St. Mary Avenue (20%) MB  49,300 

Saint John City Hall (50%) NB  79,400 

4211 Albert Street SK  37,300 

5  Creekside Corporate Centre ON  301,400 

4  Mississauga City Centre (50%) ON  397,700 

945 Wilson Avenue (32%) ON  74,500 

 3  181 Queen Street ON  251,500 

131 Queen Street ON  329,500 

65 Overlea Boulevard (95%) ON  87,800 

350/361 Sparks Street ON  218,500 

 2  2920 Matheson Blvd. East ON  115,600 

1  Place Innovation (50%) QC  445,000 

Industrial Portfolio Various  539,000  

Total Office/Industrial/Hotel  2,926,500

Total Commercial Leasable Sq. Ft. 6,850,100

 •1 

 •2  •3  •5 

 •4 
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RETAIL PROPERTIES

 
Property Province Leasable Sq. Ft.

Airdrie Co-op Centre AB 65,000

Heritage Towne Centre AB 133,500

Parkland Mall AB 473,000

Prairie Mall (50%) AB 147,000

Totem Building  AB 44,000

Burquitlam Plaza BC 72,000

Shelbourne Plaza BC 57,000

The Centre at Circle & Eighth SK 489,000

Brandon Shoppers Mall MB 363,000

Charleswood Centre MB 115,000

Southdale Mall MB 175,500

Aurora Centre ON 288,500

4  Cambridge Centre ON 719,500

Hampton Park  ON 102,000

Home Base ON 10,000

Kingsbury Centre ON 70,500

Market Square ON 58,000

1  St. Laurent Centre ON 852,000

Wonderland Corners  ON 47,500

Woodbridge Square (50%) ON 56,500

Total Retail Leasable Sq. Ft.  4,338,500

OFFICE/INDUSTRIAL/HOTEL

 
Property Province Leasable Sq. Ft.

Alberta Treasury  AB 41,500

Carma Building AB 19,500

Centre 810 AB 77,500

Deerport Centre AB 47,500

Duncan Building AB 78,000

505 Third Street (50%) AB 71,000

2  Scotia Place (20%)  AB 114,000

Chancery Place BC 142,500

111 Dunsmuir  BC 222,000

Seymour Place BC 239,000

Cedar Pointe Business Park ON 332,000

1875 Leslie ON 52,000

5591-5631 Finch  ON 210,000

535 Coventry  ON 29,000

525 Coventry  ON 42,500

Green Valley Office Park ON 123,500

3  Heritage Place (50%) ON 115,000

St. Laurent Business Centre ON 89,500

77 Bloor (50%) ON 185,000

Standard Life Centre (50%) ON 190,500

350 Sparks (50%) ON 86,000

361 Queen (50%) ON 132,500

Time Square ON 111,000

20-24 Lesmill ON 27,500

2041-2141 McCowan  ON 197,000

285 Yorkland ON 25,000

200 Yorkland ON 145,500

279 Yorkland ON 18,000

Centre de la Cité QC 128,000

Place Innovation QC 445,000 

825 Des Erables (50%) QC 242,500

Total Office/Industrial/Hotel  3,979,500

Total Commercial Leasable Sq. Ft. 8,318,000

MORgUARD REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST 
PORTFOLIO SUMMARy

 •1 

 •2 

 •3 

 •4 
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Income Statement Financial Highlights      

Years ended December 31  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)   2010  2009  2008

Income from real estate properties $ 277,762 $ 280,202 $  269,813 
Net operating income $  151,830  $  150,926  $  147,453 
Management and advisory fees $  65,921  $  63,440  $  66,675 
Property management and corporate $  (58,467) $  (54,983) $  (58,626)
Equity income from Morguard REIT – continuing operations $  12,960  $  12,788  $  29,761 
        
EBITDA $  195,810  $  176,281  $  214,964 
Interest expense $  (68,814) $  (71,546) $  (72,222)
Amortization  $  (63,161) $  (66,931) $  (64,585)
        
Net earnings for the period $  44,552  $  30,291  $  50,693 
Earnings per share – basic  $3.28   $2.16   $3.64 
        
Funds from operations $  118,775  $  114,256  $  115,672 
Funds from operations per share – basic  $8.76   $8.14   $8.30 

  
  
Balance Sheet Financial Highlights

Years Ended December 31  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)   2010  2009  2008

Real estate properties $ 1,625,335 $ 1,604,237 $  1,718,537 
Investment in Morguard REIT $  211,458  $  229,346  $  237,874 
Mortgages and loans receivable  $  85,339  $  62,933  $  15,621 
Amounts receivable $  43,353  $  43,868  $  38,473 
Cash and cash equivalents $  27,535  $  40,866  $  34,448 
Total assets $  2,057,911  $  2,051,721  $  2,110,431 
        
Mortgages payable $  1,213,711  $  1,229,642  $  1,249,608 
Bank indebtedness $  43,805  $  17,338  $  62,266 
Loan payable $  27,066  $  20,266  $  9,976 
Debt to total assets    62.4%    61.8%    62.6% 
 
Shareholders’ equity $  557,071  $  564,647  $  557,421 
Book value per share  $42.96   $40.70   $39.78 
Number of shares outstanding    12,966    13,872    14,011

FINANCIAL HIgHLIgHTS

FuNDS FRoM oPERATIoNS
(in millions of dollars)

wEIgHTED AvERAgE  
INTEREST RATE

0606

5.84%
$111

$94

$116 $114
$119

0707

5.66%

0808

5.44%

0909

5.31%

1010

5.21%

SHAREHoLDERS’ EquITY
(in millions of dollars)

06

$499 $497

$557 $565 $557

07 08 09 10

CJ22423 Text.indd   14 11-03-29   5:09 PM



152 010 AnnuAl report

ManageMent’s Discussion anD  
analysis of Results of opeRations  
anD financial conDition
for the year ended December 31, 2010
(all amounts are stated in thousands of canadian dollars except per share amounts)

the company is pleased to provide this review of operations and update on our financial performance for the 
year ended December 31, 2010.

Management’s Discussion and analysis (“MD&a”) sets out Morguard corporation’s (“Morguard” or the “company”) 
strategies and provides an analysis of the financial performance for 2010, significant risks facing the business and 
management’s outlook for 2011. Historical results, including trends that might appear, should not be taken as 
indicative of future operations or results.

this MD&a should be read in conjunction with the company’s audited consolidated financial statements and the 
accompanying notes for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. this MD&a is based on financial statements 
prepared in accordance with canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“canadian gaap”). this MD&a 
is dated March 2, 2011. Disclosure contained in this document is current to that date, unless otherwise noted. 
prior year results have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

additional information relating to Morguard corporation, including the company’s annual information form, 
can be found at www.sedar.com and www.morguard.com.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DISCLAIMER
statements contained herein that are not based on historical or current fact, including without limitation statements 
containing the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “may,” “continue,” “estimate,” “expects” and “will” and words 
of similar expression constitute “forward-looking statements”. such forward-looking statements involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, events or developments to 
be materially different from any future results, events or developments expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements. such factors include, among others, the following: general economic and business conditions, 
both nationally and in the regions in which the company operates; changes in business strategy or development/
acquisition plans; environmental exposures; financing risk; existing governmental regulations and changes in, or 
the failure to comply with, governmental regulations; liability and other claims asserted against the company; 
and other factors referred to in the company’s filings with canadian securities regulators. given these uncertainties, 
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. the company does not 
assume the obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements.

NON-GAAP MEASURES
the company reports its financial results in accordance with canadian gaap. However, in this MD&a we also use 
certain non-gaap financial measures including “net operating income” and “funds from operations”. these 
measures are commonly used by entities in the real estate industry as useful metrics for measuring performance. 
However, they do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by canadian gaap and are not necessarily 
comparable to similar measures presented by other real estate entities. these measures should be considered 
as supplemental in nature and not a substitute for related financial information prepared in accordance with 
canadian gaap.

net operating income (“noi”) is used by industry analysts, investors and management to measure operating 
performance at the company’s properties. noi represents income from real estate properties less property 
operating expenses as presented in the consolidated statement of operations. accordingly, noi excludes certain 
expenses included in the determination of net income such as property management and corporate, interest 
expense, amortization and other indirect operating expenses. noi is not a recognized measure under canadian 
gaap and, accordingly, the term does not necessarily have a standardized meaning and may not be comparable 
to similarly titled measures presented by other publicly traded entities.
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The Company uses funds from operations (“FFO”) in addition to net income to report operating results. FFO is 
an industry standard for evaluating operating performance defined as net income plus non-controlling interest, 
amortization of real estate assets and future income taxes and excludes gains and losses from the sale of depreciable 
property and includes the Company’s proportionate share of Morguard REIT’s FFO. FFO is not indicative of funds 
available to meet the Company’s cash requirements. The Company computes FFO in accordance with the current 
definitions of the Real Property Association of Canada (“REALpac”); however, FFO is not a recognized measure 
under Canadian GAAP and, accordingly, the term does not necessarily have a standardized meaning and may 
not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other publicly traded entities.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
Morguard Corporation is a real estate investment company whose principal activities include the acquisition and 
ownership of commercial and multi-unit residential real estate properties. Morguard is also one of Canada’s 
premier real estate investment advisors and management companies, representing major institutional and private 
investors. The Company’s common shares are publicly traded and listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under 
the symbol “MRC”. The Company’s primary goal is to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality real estate assets 
and then deliver the benefits of such real estate ownership to shareholders.

The Company owns a diversified portfolio of 100 multi-unit residential, retail, office and industrial properties 
located across Canada and in the southeastern United States. The Company also owns a 50% undivided interest 
in one hotel property and owns interests in 122 acres of developable land. The composition of the Company’s 
real estate assets by asset type as at December 31, 2010, was as follows:

         Real Estate  2010
         Assets  Net
     GLA    Net Book  Operating
   Number of   Square Feet  Apartment  Value  Income
Type  Properties  (thousands)  Suites  (thousands)  (thousands)

Multi-unit residential – Canada  18  –  6,723 $ 512,837 $ 51,030
Multi-unit residential – U.S.  17  –  3,580  199,084  16,491
Retail – Canada  9  1,585  –  259,841  26,721
Retail – U.S.  15  2,348  –  205,350  20,042
Office and industrial  41  2,926  –  393,083  37,546
Properties and land held for and under development  –  –  –  55,140  –

Total  100  6,859  10,303 $ 1,625,335 $ 151,830

Portfolio Composition by Type
The Company’s Canadian multi-unit residential portfolio comprises 16 high-rise buildings and two low-rise buildings 
located primarily throughout the Greater Toronto Area. The U.S. multi-unit residential portfolio consists of 17 
low-rise, garden-style communities located in Alabama, Florida, Louisiana and New Jersey. The combined multi-unit 
residential portfolio represents 10,303 units.

The Company’s Canadian retail portfolio comprises ownership interests in three enclosed shopping malls, a 
20.7% interest in a regional shopping mall, four neighbourhood retail centres and a mixed-use property located in 
downtown Toronto, Ontario. The U.S. retail portfolio consists of two enclosed shopping malls and 13 neighbourhood 
retail centres located in Florida and Louisiana. The combined retail portfolio represents 3.9 million square feet of 
gross leasable area (“GLA”).

The Company’s office portfolio is focused on well-located, high-quality office buildings in major urban centres 
primarily located throughout the Greater Toronto Area, downtown Ottawa, Ontario, and Montreal, Quebec. The 
portfolio is a mix of single-tenant buildings and multi-tenant properties. The Company’s industrial portfolio 
comprises 26 properties located throughout Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia. The total office and industrial 
portfolio represents 2.9 million square feet of GLA.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Advisory Services Business
The Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Morguard Investments Limited (“MIL”), provides real estate 
management services to Canadian institutional investors. Services include acquisitions, development, dispositions, 
leasing, performance measurement, and asset and property management. For almost 35 years, MIL has positioned 
itself as one of Canada’s leading providers of real estate portfolio and asset and property management services. 
As of December 31, 2010, MIL’s managed portfolio (excluding Morguard’s corporately owned assets and assets 
owned by Morguard REIT) of retail, office and industrial properties consisted of approximately 40.5 million square 
feet of GLA and had an estimated value in excess of $6.0 billion.

Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust
As at December 31, 2010, the Company owned a 45.5% (December 31, 2009 – 45.5%) interest in Morguard Real 
Estate Investment Trust (“Morguard REIT”). Morguard REIT is an unincorporated “closed-end” Trust, governed 
by the laws of the Province of Ontario. Morguard REIT’s units are publicly traded and listed on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange under the symbol MRT.un. As at December 31, 2010, Morguard REIT owned, within its continuing 
operations, a diversified real estate portfolio of 51 retail, office and mixed-use properties consisting of approximately 
8.3 million square feet of GLA located in the provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Saskatchewan, 
Manitoba and Quebec. The composition of Morguard REIT’s real estate assets by asset type as at December 31, 
2010, was as follows:

         Real Estate  2010
         Assets  Net
       GLA  Net Book  Operating
     Number of   Square Feet  Value  Income
Type    Properties  (thousands)  (thousands)  (thousands)

Continuing operations
Retail    20  4,338 $ 768,094 $ 73,609
Office    22  3,046  507,492  45,300
Other    9  934  57,505  4,750

Total    51  8,318 $ 1,333,091 $ 123,659

BUSINESS STRATEGY
Morguard’s strategy is to acquire a diversified portfolio of commercial and multi-unit residential real estate assets 
both for its own accounts and for its institutional clients. Diversification of the portfolio, by both product type 
and geographic location, serves to reduce investment risk. The Company will divest itself of non-core assets 
when proceeds can be reinvested to improve returns. A primary element of the Company’s business strategy is 
to generate stable and increasing cash flow and asset value by improving the performance of its real estate 
investment portfolio and by acquiring or developing real estate properties in sound economic markets. The 
Company’s business strategy consists of the following elements:
•  Increase property values and cash flow through aggressive leasing of available space and of space becoming 

available;
• Increase portfolio of third-party assets under management;
• Take advantage of long-standing relationships with national and regional tenants;
• Target and execute redevelopment and expansion projects that will generate substantial returns;
• Pursue opportunities to acquire or develop strategically located properties;
•  Minimize operating costs by utilizing internalized functions, including property and asset management, leasing, 

finance, accounting, legal and information technology services; and
• Dispose of properties where the cash flows and values have been maximized.
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

Table 1: Selected Annual Information

As at December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  2010  2009  20081

Total revenue $ 349,967 $ 348,767 $ 355,936

Net income from continuing operations  44,441  29,131  46,920
Per share – basic  3.28  2.07  3.37
Per share – diluted  3.28  2.07  3.36

Net income  44,552  30,291  50,693
Per share – basic  3.28  2.16  3.64
Per share – diluted  3.28  2.16  3.63
 
Funds from continuing operations  118,608  114,089  115,093
Per share – basic  8.74  8.12  8.26
Per share – diluted  8.74  8.12  8.24

Real estate properties, net  1,625,335  1,604,237  1,718,537
Investment in Morguard REIT  211,458  229,346  237,874
Total assets  2,057,911  2,051,721  2,110,431
Total long-term debt and bank indebtedness2  1,284,582  1,267,246  1,321,850
Debt to total assets (%)  62.4  61.8  62.6

Cash distributions received from Morguard REIT  23,060  23,283  25,556
Cash dividends paid  7,990  8,383  7,955

U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates
     Average during the year  1.0303  1.1420  1.0660
     At December 31  0.9946  1.0510  1.2180

1  The 2008 figures have been restated due to the Company adopting on January 1, 2009, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, the new accounting standard, 
Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, which was applied on a retroactive basis.

2 Total long-term debt is defined as the sum of (i) mortgages, (ii) bank indebtedness and (iii) loan payable.

Total revenues increased in 2010 by $1,200 to $349,967 compared to $348,767 in 2009. The increase was primarily 
the result of an increase in management and advisory fees of $2,481 and an increase in non-recurring revenue in 
2010 from the sale of housing lots of $1,045 (2009 – $nil). This was offset by a decrease in revenue from real estate 
properties in the amount of $2,440.

Total assets at December 31, 2010, were $2,057,911 compared to $2,051,721 as at December 31, 2009.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010
Net income for the year ended December 31, 2010, was $44,552 ($3.28 per diluted share) compared to $30,291 
($2.16 per diluted share) for the same period in 2009. The increase in net income of $14,261 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010, was primarily due to an increase of $8,500 of gains realized on the sale of real estate properties, 
an increase in revenue from management and advisory fees of $2,481, an increase in net operating income of 
$904, an increase in other income of $3,749, a decrease in interest expense of $2,732, a decrease in the amortization 
expense of $3,770 and a provision for impairment of real estate properties of $7,729 recorded in 2009 compared 
to $209 recorded in 2010; these items were partially offset by an increase in property management and corporate 
expenses of $3,484 and an increase in income taxes of $11,770.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Revenue

Table 2: Comparative Occupancy Levels

  Square
  Feet/ Dec. Sept. June March Dec. Sept. June March
  Units1 2010 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 2009

Multi-unit residential – Canada 6,723 97.5% 98.4% 97.8% 95.3% 95.1% 95.5% 95.1% 96.8%
Multi-unit residential – U.S. 3,580 93.8% 94.9% 93.1% 90.4% 89.6% 92.0% 91.8% 91.4%
Retail – Canada 1,584,510 97.5% 95.6% 95.4% 95.0% 95.2% 95.7% 95.6% 96.5%
Retail – U.S. 2,347,532 92.1% 91.6% 90.4% 90.1% 88.8% 91.7% 90.9% 93.5%
Office and industrial 2,926,426 92.6% 94.3% 94.1% 93.7% 93.8% 85.1% 84.9% 84.8%

1 As at December 31, 2010.

In general terms, average occupancy rates for the year ended December 31, 2010, are similar to or higher than 
those experienced during the same period in 2009. This is particularly true for the Company’s multi-unit residential 
operations, which is reflective of improving fundamentals for this asset class in Canada and the U.S.

Revenue from real estate properties decreased by $2,440 during the year ended December 31, 2010, to $277,762 
compared to $280,202 for the same period in 2009. The decrease was primarily caused by a weakening U.S. dollar 
relative to the Canadian dollar resulting in lower reported revenue of $6,807, a decrease in the Canadian retail 
portfolio of $2,576, mainly due to the sale of a 50% interest in Prairie Mall during the second quarter of 2010. 
These items were partially offset by an increase in revenue from the Canadian multi-unit residential portfolio of 
$2,139 primarily due to lower vacancy, higher revenue from the Company’s U.S. assets of $552 and an increase of 
$4,255 in the office and industrial portfolio primarily due to the acquisition of a 50% interest in Place Innovation, 
located in Saint-Laurent, Quebec.

NET OPERATING INCOME
Net operating income increased $904 to $151,830 in 2010 compared to $150,926 in 2009. The Company’s NOI is 
further analyzed by property type in Table 3 below.

Table 3: Net Operating Income by Property Type

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Net operating income – Canadian properties
     Multi-unit residential – Canada   $ 51,030 $ 47,764
     Retail – Canada    26,721  27,299
     Office and industrial    37,546  35,311

     115,297  110,374

Net operating income – U.S. properties in U.S. dollars
     Multi-unit residential – U.S.    US 16,006  US 15,293
     Retail – U.S.    US 19,452  US 20,217

     US 35,458  US 35,510
Exchange amount to Canadian dollars    1,075  5,042

Net operating income – U.S. properties in Canadian dollars    36,533  40,552

Net operating income   $ 151,830 $ 150,926

The Canadian multi-unit residential properties NOI for the year ended December 31, 2010, increased by $3,266, 
or 6.8%, compared to 2009. Revenue increased by $2,139 mainly as a result of lower vacancy and higher rental 
rates achieved. Canadian multi-unit residential NOI increased in 2010 also as a result of a decrease in utility expenses 
of $1,761 primarily due to lower consumption and rate reductions for natural gas as well as $1,808 of payments 
received (2009 – $1,029) relating to a contract to purchase natural gas. These items were partially offset by  
an increase in operating expenditures related to the implementation of the Ontario Harmonized Sales Tax  
implementation on July 1, 2010, of approximately $800.
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The Canadian retail properties NOI for the year ended December 31, 2010, decreased by $578, or 2.1%, compared 
to 2009. The decrease is predominantly due to the sale of a 50% interest in Prairie Mall, Grande Prairie, Alberta, 
which closed on May 31, 2010. This was partially offset by an increase in revenue as a result of higher recoveries 
and temporary tenancies.

The office and industrial properties NOI for the year ended December 31, 2010, increased by $2,235, or 6.3%, 
compared to 2009. The increase is predominantly due to the acquisition of a 50% interest in Place Innovation, 
Saint-Laurent, Quebec, which was acquired on July 30, 2010.

The U.S. multi-unit residential properties NOI for the year ended December 31, 2010, decreased by $974, or 5.6%, 
compared to 2009 primarily due to the change in the foreign exchange rate, which decreased reported NOI by 
$1,687. The negative impact of foreign exchange was partially offset by an increase in revenue as a result of the 
average occupancy for the year ended December 31, 2010, increasing to 93.1% (2009 – 91.2%).

The U.S. retail properties NOI for the year ended December 31, 2010, decreased $3,045, or 13.2%, compared to 
2009. Approximately $2,282 of the decrease was due to the change in the foreign exchange rate. The balance of 
the decrease in NOI for the period was predominantly the result of tenant losses in two unenclosed retail centres 
in Louisiana whereby each centre experienced a vacancy rate of approximately 55%. However, new in-place 
leases have reduced the vacancy rate in one of the centres to 37%, and new leases signed in 2010 at both centres 
reflect a weighted average increase of 42% in minimum rent over the expiring leases.

Table 4: Comparative Net Operating Income

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Multi-unit residential – Canada   $ 49,502 $ 46,979
Multi-unit residential – U.S.    16,304  17,152
Retail – Canada    25,030  23,026
Retail – U.S.    17,396  20,447
Office and industrial    34,196  35,013

Comparative NOI    142,428  142,617
Amortization of below-market leases    1,948  2,530
Straight-line rent    590  836
Acquired properties    3,303  113
Sold properties – 50% interest in Prairie Mall and Danville    1,450  3,093
Canadian multi-unit residential – payment for gas purchasing contract    1,808  1,029
Canadian retail – step rent adjustment and property tax settlements    (266)  –
Canadian retail – % rent adjustment    78  169
Canadian and U.S. retail – lease cancellation/settlement    491  539

Net operating income   $ 151,830 $ 150,926

The Company believes it is useful to provide an analysis of comparative NOI, which eliminates non-recurring and 
non-cash items. Comparative NOI decreased marginally to $142,428 during the year ended December 31, 2010, 
as compared to $142,617 in 2009.

Management and Other Operations
Morguard continues to be one of Canada’s premier real estate advisory and management companies, providing 
services to institutional and private investors. Morguard’s managed portfolio (excluding corporately owned 
assets and Morguard REIT’s assets) of office, industrial, retail and residential assets had an estimated value of  
$5.8 billion as at December 31, 2010. Morguard’s management and advisory fee revenue was $65,921 compared 
to $63,440 in 2009. The increase of $2,481 was primarily the result of an increase in leasing fee revenues mainly 
from the leasing of new space and an increase in property management fees due to new acquisitions.

The Company also generated a net profit from the sale of land and product of $2,088 during 2010 (2009 – $1,437).

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Equity Income From Morguard REIT
The Company recorded equity income from Morguard REIT of $13,071 during the year ended December 31, 2010, 
compared to $13,948 during 2009. The decrease of $877 in equity income from Morguard REIT is mainly due to 
the increase in interest expense on convertible debentures issued during the year ended December 31, 2009, 
partially offset by an increase in Morguard REIT’s net operating income.

During 2010, the Company received cash distributions from Morguard REIT in the amount of $23,060 (2009 – 
$23,283). During the year ended December 31, 2010, Morguard REIT bought back nil units (2009 – 1,988,107) under 
its normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) for cancellation.

Interest Expense

Table 5: Interest Expense

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Interest on mortgages   $ 64,415 $ 66,706
Interest on bank indebtedness    1,070  1,364
Amortization of deferred direct financing costs    2,166  1,944
Amortization of cash flow hedge    935  1,187
Interest on loans payable and others    228  345

    $ 68,814 $ 71,546

Interest expense decreased $2,732, or 3.8%, to $68,814 during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to 
$71,546 in 2009. The decrease was primarily due to the change in the foreign exchange rate, which caused a 
decrease of $2,113 in reported interest on the U.S. mortgages.

Amortization

Table 6: Amortization Expense

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Multi-unit residential – Canada   $ 17,277 $ 17,149
Multi-unit residential – U.S.    7,020  8,004
Retail – Canada    5,466  5,440
Retail – U.S.    12,606  16,456
Office and industrial    20,792  19,882

    $ 63,161 $ 66,931

Amortization expense decreased by $3,770, or 5.6%, to $63,161 during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared 
to $66,931 during the same period in 2009. The decrease is primarily due to the change in the U.S. dollar exchange 
rate of $2,412 and lower amortization of U.S. assets of $2,421 offset by an increase in amortization of office and 
industrial assets of $910 due to the acquisition of Place Innovation during the quarter ended September 30, 2010.

Gain on Sale of Real Estate Properties
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company sold a 50% interest in Prairie Mall, a 293,500 square foot 
retail shopping centre located in Grande Prairie, Alberta, to Morguard REIT for total sale proceeds of $40,750, 
resulting in a pre-tax gain on sale of $9,735. In addition, the Company also sold an industrial real estate property 
for gross proceeds of $328, resulting in a pre-tax gain on sale of $236. The gain on sale of real estate assets recorded 
for the year ended December 31, 2009, was $1,471.

Other Income (Expense)
Other income increased by $3,749 primarily due to an increase in dividend and interest income of $1,869 caused 
by increased activity within the Company’s mezzanine lending program. Other income also increased due to a 
realized gain on the sale of marketable securities of $1,230.
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Provision for Impairment of Real Estate Properties
On an annual basis, and when indicators of impairment exist, Canadian GAAP requires the Company to determine 
whether the net carrying amount of properties is recoverable from future undiscounted cash flow. Factors that 
could indicate that an impairment exists include significant underperformance relative to historical or projected 
operating results, significant changes in the manner or use of the assets, significant negative industry or economic 
trends or a change in the strategy for the Company’s overall business.

The Company’s businesses, markets and business environment are continually monitored, and judgments and 
assessments are made to determine whether an event has occurred that indicates possible impairment. If such 
an event has occurred, an estimate is made of the future undiscounted cash flows from the asset. If the total of 
the undiscounted future cash flows, excluding financing charges, is less than the carrying amount of the asset, 
an asset impairment charge must be recognized in the financial statements.

As a result of this evaluation, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment provision of $209 for land held for 
development in the U.S. In 2009, a non-cash impairment provision of $7,729 was recorded, of which $5,103 per-
tained to a U.S. residential property, $2,176 related to land held for development in the U.S. and the remaining 
$450 pertained to an industrial property located in London, Ontario.

Pension Plans
Effective January 1, 2008, the Morguard Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”) was amended 
and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing defined benefit provisions and new defined contribution 
provisions. Employees who accrued benefits under the Morguard Plan on December 31, 2007, continued to  
participate in the defined benefit provisions of the Morguard Plan on and after January 1, 2008, and are not  
eligible to participate in the new defined contribution provisions.

Effective January 1, 2008, all members of the MIL retirement plan (the “MIL Plan”) ceased to accrue further benefits 
under the MIL Plan and commenced participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard 
Plan. No assets or liabilities will transfer from the MIL Plan to the new Morguard Plan in respect of benefits 
accrued to December 31, 2007, in respect of MIL members. Accrued benefits under the MIL Plan shall be determined 
using credited service and benefit entitlement as of December 31, 2007.

With respect to the Company’s defined benefit pension plans, the Company is exposed to the possibility that 
changes in returns could have an impact on contributions, cash flows and pension expense. Other market-driven 
changes can also have a similar effect. In addition, there is no assurance that the plans will be able to earn the 
assumed rate of return. Market-driven changes may result in changes in the discount rates and other variables, 
which would result in the Company being required to make contributions in the future that differ significantly 
from the estimates. There is also a component of measurement uncertainty incorporated in the actuarial valuation 
process. Should the underlying assumptions change, actual results could differ from the estimated amounts.

Income Taxes
For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded total income tax expense of $19,283 compared 
to $7,513 in 2009. The increase of $11,770 is mainly due to the gain realized upon the disposition of a 50% interest 
in a retail property and non-capital loss carryforwards being fully utilized in 2009 with an offsetting reduction in 
future tax expense due to the utilization of future tax assets relating to loss carryforwards recorded in the year 
ended December 31, 2009. In addition, on November 16, 2009, future reductions in Ontario income tax rates 
became substantively enacted and, accordingly, the Company was required to revalue its future income tax 
assets and liabilities, resulting in a recovery of $9,087 for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Virtually all of the current income tax expense is the result of the Company being taxable in Canada. The Company’s 
direct and indirect subsidiaries in the U.S. have incurred a taxable loss for the year ended December 31, 2010; 
however; the benefit of the loss has not been set up in the Company’s accounting records due to the uncertainty 
of the timing of the recognition of these losses.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Funds From Operations

Table 7: Funds From Operations

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars, except for per share amounts)    2010  2009

Net income for the year from continuing operations   $ 44,441 $ 29,131
Items not affecting cash:
     Amortization    61,639  65,707
     Future income taxes    2,312  (4,250)
     Non-controlling interest    (159)  (74)
     Equity income from Morguard REIT – continuing operations    (12,960)  (12,788)
     Morguard REIT’s equity accounted FFO    33,097  30,105
     Gain on sale of properties    (9,971)  (1,471)
     Provision for impairment of real estate properties    209  7,729

Funds from continuing operations   $ 118,608 $ 114,089
Morguard REIT’s equity accounted FFO from discontinued operations    167  167

Funds from operations   $ 118,775 $ 114,256

Funds from continuing operations
     Per share amounts – basic and diluted   $ 8.74 $ 8.12

The real estate industry has adopted a measure of FFO to supplement net income as an operating performance 
measurement. The Company considers FFO to be a useful measure for reviewing its comparative operating and 
financial performance. By excluding real estate asset depreciation and amortization (which can vary among 
owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimates), FFO 
can assist with comparisons of the operating performance of the Company’s real estate between periods and 
relative to other companies in the industry.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded consolidated FFO from continuing operations of 
$118,608 ($8.74 per diluted share) compared to $114,089 ($8.12 per diluted share) in 2009, an increase of $4,519.

FFO increased primarily due to an increase in NOI of $904, net profit from the sale of land and product of $651, 
an increase in management and advisory fee revenue of $2,481, an increase in Morguard REIT’s equity accounted 
FFO of $2,992, an increase in other income of $3,749 and a decrease in interest expense of $2,732, partially offset 
by an increase in property management and corporate expenses of $3,484 and an increase in current income 
taxes of $5,208. The change in foreign exchange rates decreased FFO by $1,294 ($0.09 per share).

Real Estate Properties
The Company’s real estate properties, including the investment in Morguard REIT, represent more than 89% of 
Morguard’s total assets. Real estate properties comprise the following categories: land, buildings, leasehold 
improvements, intangible assets, land held for future development and various real estate investments. Table 8 
details the Company’s real estate assets.
 
Table 8: Real Estate Properties
As at December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Revenue producing properties
     Residential   $ 712,417 $ 738,019
     Retail    376,381  423,038
     Office and industrial    392,608  323,364

     1,481,406  1,484,421
Real estate investments    88,790  72,489
Properties under development    39,834  36,954
Land held for development and sale    15,305  10,373

Real estate properties   $ 1,625,335 $ 1,604,237
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Real estate properties increased by $21,098 at December 31, 2010, to $1,625,335 compared to $1,604,237 at 
December 31, 2009. The increase is mainly the result of the following:
• Acquisition of real estate properties totaling $95,412;
• Capitalization of property enhancements and leasehold improvements totaling $18,466; and
• Development expenditures of $11,858
Offset by:
• Sale of an industrial property and a 50% interest in one retail property of $19,204;
• Depreciation of $61,639; and
• A decrease of $22,738 due to the change in the U.S. dollar foreign exchange rates.

On May 3, 2010, the Company acquired a single-tenant retail property for cash of US$4,900. The acquired property 
is adjacent to a retail shopping centre owned by the Company in Slidell, Louisiana.

On July 30, 2010, the Company and Morguard REIT each acquired a 50% co-ownership interest in Place Innovation, 
a four-building, interconnected office complex located in Saint-Laurent, Quebec. The property contains approxi-
mately 890,000 (100%) square feet of leasable area located on a 126 (100%) acre site that includes 56.0 (100%) acres 
of land available for future development. The total purchase price for the 50% interest was $82,500 plus other 
acquisition costs of $2,210. The acquisition was funded with a $44,000 (50%) first mortgage loan secured by the 
property and the remainder by cash.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company also acquired nine rental townhomes for cash of US$958 
adjacent to the Lake Worth, Florida, apartment community that was acquired on July 31, 2008. These acquisitions 
bring the total number of rental townhomes owned by the Company to 27.

The following dispositions were completed during the year ended December 31, 2010:

On June 1, 2010, the Company sold a 50% interest in a retail shopping centre located in Grande Prairie, Alberta, 
to Morguard REIT for total sale proceeds of $40,750, resulting in a pre-tax gain on sale of $9,735. As part of the 
sale, Morguard REIT assumed 50% of the mortgage on the property and issued a promissory note for $20,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company also sold an industrial real estate property for gross 
proceeds of $328 (2009 – $6,051), resulting in a pre-tax gain of $236 (2009 – $1,471).

Real Estate Investments
On June 30, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.S. limited partnership real estate 
fund. The Company has committed up to US$20,000 for investment in the fund. On November 10, 2010, the 
Company invested US$4,569 in the fund and accounts for its investment using the cost method.

On November 26, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to invest in the MIL Industrial Fund II Limited 
Partnership (the “MIL Fund”), a real estate fund, whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is 
the general partner. The Company has committed up to $15,000 for investment in the fund. As at December 31, 
2010, the Company invested $90 in the fund and accounts for its investment using the equity method since the 
Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the fund as a result of its role as general partner.

CAPITAL RESOURCES
Morguard uses a combination of existing cash, cash generated from operations, mortgages, bank indebtedness, 
project-specific financing and equity to finance its activities. Morguard received approximately $28,560 in distributions 
and dividends from subsidiaries and affiliated entities during 2010.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
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Table 9: Mortgage Continuity Schedule

As at December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Opening mortgage balance   $ 1,239,935 $ 1,260,289
New mortgage financing    56,289  129,330
Mortgages discharged and matured    (7,409)  (64,708)
Mortgage assumed by Morguard REIT on sale of 50% interest in Prairie Mall    (19,580)  –
Scheduled principal repayments    (26,365)  (24,880)
Change in foreign exchange rate    (19,696)  (58,944)
Mortgage fair value adjustment amortization    (258)  (274)
Mortgage fair value adjustment    –  (878)

Closing mortgage balance   $ 1,222,916 $ 1,239,935

Mortgages

Table 10: Mortgage Repayment Schedule

           Weighted
     Principal      Average
As at December 31    Instalment  Balance    Contractual
(In thousands of dollars)    Repayments  Maturing  Total  Rate

2011   $ 26,697 $ 70,074 $ 96,771  5.21%
2012    27,945  66,592  94,537  5.14%
2013    26,703  166,928  193,631  5.17%
2014    20,140  195,941  216,081  5.29%
2015    15,882  135,691  151,573  5.37%
Thereafter    –  –  470,323  5.55%

        $ 1,222,916  5.21%
Deferred direct financing costs        (9,205)

Mortgages payable       $ 1,213,711

Mortgages payable totaled $1,222,916 as at December 31, 2010, compared to $1,239,935 in 2009, representing a 
decrease of $17,019.

On February 1, 2010, the Company completed the refinancing of one Canadian retail property in the amount of 
$53,045 at an interest rate of 5.13% for a term of five years.

On June 1, 2010, the Company completed a two-year extension of a mortgage secured by a mixed-use property 
located on Bloor Street in Toronto, Ontario, in the amount of $41,081 at an interest rate of 3.8% and completed 
the refinancing of a multi-unit residential property located in Mississauga, Ontario, in the amount of $12,289 at 
an interest rate of 4.25% for a term of ten years.

On July 30, 2010, the Company partially funded the Place Innovation acquisition with a mortgage in the amount 
of $44,000 at an interest rate of 5.48% for a term of ten years.

On August 10, 2010, the Company completed the refinancing of office property located in Mississauga, Ontario, 
in the amount of $26,125 at an interest rate of 4.38% for a term of five years.

The Company’s first and second mortgages are registered against specific real estate assets or a pool of real 
estate assets. These mortgages bear interest at rates ranging between 3.8% and 7.3% per annum with a weighted 
average interest rate of 5.21% (December 31, 2009 – 5.31%) and mature between 2011 and 2026 with a weighted 
average term to maturity of 5.18 years.
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The following table details the Company’s mortgages that are scheduled to mature in the next two years.
 
Table 11: Mortgage Maturity Schedule

  2011   2012

      Weighted     Weighted
   Number of Principal  Average  Number of Principal  Average
Asset Type  Properties  Maturing  Interest Rate  Properties  Maturing  Interest Rate

Canada – multi-unit residential  6 $ 70,074  6.23%  1 $ 23,016  6.0%
U.S. – multi-unit residential  –  –  –  1  4,476  6.5%
Canada – retail  –  –  –  1  39,100  3.8%

   6 $ 70,074  6.23%  3 $ 66,592  4.75%

Bank Indebtedness
The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totaling $116,547 (December 31, 2009 – $116,547). The 
Company’s investment in Morguard REIT, marketable securities, amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets 
and a fixed charge security on specific properties have been pledged as collateral on these credit facilities and 
operating lines. As at December 31, 2010, the Company had borrowed $43,805 (December 31, 2009 – $17,338) and 
issued letters of credit in the amount of $8,467 (December 31, 2009 – $2,029) related to these facilities.

The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at 
December 31, 2010, the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness 
is current, the carrying value of the debt at December 31, 2010, approximates its fair value.

Shareholders’ Equity
Shareholders’ equity decreased by $7,576 to $557,071 at December 31, 2010, compared to $564,647 at December 31, 
2009. The decrease in equity was primarily the result of the repurchase and cancellation of 905,850 of the Company’s 
common shares for $40,479, dividends of $8,009, the non-cash loss on interest rate swaps of $1,330, reclassification 
for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities of $925 and cumulative foreign exchange translation adjustments 
of $3,714, partially offset by net income of $44,552 and amortization of cash flow hedges in the amount of $1,117.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, the Company identified an error in the tax rate that had been used 
to calculate the future tax liability as at December 31, 2009. Because the future enacted tax rate decreased from 
25.5% to 25.0% in November 2009, the impact of this reduction in income tax rates is an overstatement of the 
future tax liability in the amount of $1,197 as at December 31, 2009. Since this error is not material to prior year 
financial statements, however correcting it in the current quarter would have materially distorted the Company’s 
second quarter’s results, the Company has corrected the error by increasing opening retained earnings as at 
January 1, 2010, by $1,197.

At December 31, 2010, 12,966,064 common shares were outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2010, 
905,850 shares (2009 – 225,323) were repurchased through the Company’s normal course issuer bid for cash  
consideration of $40,479 (2009 – $5,858) and nil shares (2009 – 85,500) were issued under an employee stock 
option plan. As at December 31, 2010, no stock options are outstanding. Under the Company’s dividend reinvestment 
plan, the Company issued 368 (2009 – 647) shares.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Future obligations total $1,374,784, of which $1,222,916 is mortgage financing that management presently intends 
to renew at maturity. Operating leases relate primarily to rental premises and will be paid out of the cash flow of 
the Company. The Company leases the land under five of its properties, with lease maturity dates ranging from 
2022 to 2069. The land lease payments will be paid out of the cash flow of the Company.
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Table 12: Payments Due by Period

  Payments Due by Period 

As at December 31    Less Than
(In thousands of dollars)  Total  1 Year  1–3 Years  4–5 Years  After 5 Years

Mortgages payable $ 1,222,916 $ 96,771 $ 288,168 $ 367,654 $ 470,323
Operating leases  8,852  3,041  5,013  786  12
Ground leases  143,016  2,963  5,924  5,924  128,205

Total contractual obligations $ 1,374,784 $ 102,775 $ 299,105 $ 374,364 $ 598,540

One of the Company’s ground leases, which expires on June 30, 2060, was scheduled to be reset to 6% of the fair 
market value of the land effective July 1, 2010. In accordance with the terms of the lease, since the lessor and the 
Company were not able to reach an agreement on the revised annual rental payment, the matter will be appointed 
to an arbitrator that will determine the revised annual rental. Due to the complexities involved in determining the 
fair market value of the annual ground rent and since the final outcome of this matter cannot be predicted or 
estimated with certainty, the Company continues to reflect the previous rent expense of $2,779 per annum in the 
property operating expenses of the consolidated statements of income. As the arbitration proceedings progress, 
the Company will review and amend the amount of the rental expense as required. The final settlement of the 
proceedings in excess of amounts recorded will be charged to operations as and when such determination is 
made. The Company currently estimates that the arbitration proceedings will not commence until 2012.

Table 13: Mortgages and Loans Receivable

Mortgages and loans receivable consist of the following: 

As at December 31    2010  2009

Loans receivable – other   $ 80,989 $ 22,988
Mortgages receivable    4,350  11,545
Loan receivable – ClubLink Enterprises Limited (“ClubLink”)    –  28,400

    $ 85,339 $ 62,933

Loans Receivable – Other
The Company has a loan agreement with an unrelated third party that bears interest at the 90-day bankers’ 
acceptance rate plus 11.5% per annum plus 1% admin fee and is collateralized by a first charge on several real 
estate properties. On November 24, 2010, the Company advanced $75,000 under this arrangement. The loan 
matures on November 24, 2014. The Company earned interest and fees in the amount of $1,023 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.

On June 17, 2010, the Company provided a $20,000 revolving credit facility at an interest rate of 3.9% to the Bramalea 
City Centre co-ownership, of which the Company owns 20.7%. The purpose of the facility was to bridge construction 
loan advances related to the ongoing redevelopment of Bramalea City Centre. The Company had advanced  
$16,500 to the co-ownership and earned interest of $54. The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2010, is nil.

The Company has a loan agreement with an unrelated third party that bears interest at the rate of 15% per annum. 
The Company advanced $5,739 under this arrangement and earned interest and commitment fees of $582 during 
the year ended December 31, 2010. The loan is collateralized by units of a publicly traded entity. The loan is 
repayable in full on March 31, 2011.

As part of the sale of a 50% interest in a retail property located in Grande Prairie, Alberta, to Morguard REIT, 
Morguard REIT issued a promissory note for $20,000. The note earned interest of 6.5% per annum and was repaid 
on November 22, 2010. Interest of $620 was earned during the year ended December 31, 2010.

The Company had a loan agreement with an unrelated third party bearing interest at the 30-day bankers’ acceptance 
rate plus 12% per annum and was collateralized by first charges on several real estate properties. On November 13, 
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2009, the Company advanced $34,160 under this arrangement. The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2010, 
is nil and interest and fees of $1,771 were earned by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2010.

On October 8, 2009, the Company assumed from the Morguard Plan three mezzanine loans receivable for  
cash, at their exchange value, which approximated their carrying value totaling $9,860. The balance outstanding 
as at December 31, 2010, is nil. The Company earned interest in the amount of $806 for the year ended  
December 31, 2010.

Mortgages Receivable
On September 29, 2010, the Company assumed at its carrying value plus accrued interest from Morguard REIT a $2,000 
vendor take-back note receivable that had been issued to an unrelated third party as part of a disposition of a 
retail property. The note bears interest at an annual interest rate of 5.0%, matures on May 28, 2013, and is collater-
alized by the property. The Company earned interest in the amount of $25 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Other mortgages receivable bear interest at rates that vary from 6.0% to 8.0% (2009 – 0.0% to 8.0%) and are repayable 
between 2011 and 2015.

Loan Receivable – ClubLink
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with ClubLink that provides for borrowings or advances of up to 
$30,000. During the year ended December 31, 2010, ClubLink repaid $28,400 to reduce the loan balance to nil.

Short-term fluctuations in working capital are funded through pre-established operating lines. The Company 
anticipates meeting all future obligations. The Company has no off-balance sheet financing arrangements. 
Significant changes in financial condition are reviewed below.

LIQUIDITY
Net cash flows from operating activities represent the primary source of liquidity to fund distributions and  
maintenance capital expenditures (excluding new acquisition and development spending) on the Company’s 
properties. The Company’s net cash flows from operating activities are dependent upon the occupancy level of 
its rental properties, rental rates on its leases, collectibility of rent from its tenants, level of operating expenses 
and other factors. Material changes in these factors may adversely affect the Company’s cash flows from operating 
activities and liquidity. The Company’s cash distribution policy reflects a strategy of maintaining a relatively  
constant debt level as a percentage of total gross assets. Accordingly, the Company does not repay maturing debt 
from cash flow but rather with proceeds from refinancing such debt or financing unencumbered properties.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash flow from operating activities was $106,800 in 2010, compared to $105,327 in 2009. The cash provided from 
operating activities has been used to meet the Company’s liquidity requirements, which consisted primarily of 
property re-leasing costs, maintenance costs and dividends to shareholders.

Cash Used in Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities during 2010 totaled $5,276 as compared to cash used of $8,585 for the same 
period in 2009. In 2010, the Company received net proceeds of $56,289 in new mortgages, loan payable of $6,800 
and proceeds from bank indebtedness of $26,234, offset by $26,365 of mortgage principal repayments, payments 
on maturing mortgages payable of $7,409, shares purchased for cancellation of $40,479, dividends paid of $7,990, 
and an increase in restricted cash of $804.

Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities during 2010 totaled $124,866 compared to cash used of $88,662 for the same 
period in 2009. The cash used in investing activities reflects $131,787 for the acquisition of the Place Innovation 
office building and other additions to real estate properties and capital assets, an increase in mortgage and loans 
receivable of $3,568, offset by proceeds from sale of investments in publicly traded securities of $9,005 and  
proceeds from sale of real estate properties of $1,484.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The table below provides a summary of operating results for the last eight quarters. The net income amounts for 
the three months ended December 31, 2009, have been restated for the adjustment reported in the June 30, 2010, 
financial statements, as a result of the error in the tax rate that had been used to calculate the future tax liability 
as at December 31, 2009.

Table 14: Quarterly Results

  Net Income From  
  Continuing Operations   Net Income

(In thousands of dollars,   Total  Per Share Per Share  Per Share Per Share
except per share amounts)  Revenue $ Basic Diluted $ Basic Diluted

December 31, 2010 $ 93,579 $ 12,687 $0.91 $0.91 $ 12,687 $0.91 $0.91
September 30, 2010  86,675  10,053 0.76 0.76  10,053 0.76 0.76
June 30, 2010  87,102  17,299 1.29 1.29  17,348 1.29 1.29
March 31, 2010  82,611  4,402 0.32 0.32  4,464 0.32 0.32
December 31, 2009  87,554  12,911 0.92 0.92  14,108 1.00 1.00
September 30, 2009  87,141  5,828 0.42 0.42  5,828 0.42 0.42
June 30, 2009  86,041  6,723 0.48 0.48  6,723 0.48 0.48
March 31, 2009  88,031  4,829 0.34 0.34  4,829 0.34 0.34

Note: March 31, 2009, to September 30, 2010, net earnings have not been restated for discontinued operations occurring subsequent to these periods.

Fourth Quarter Results 2010
Revenue increased $6,025 to $93,579 in the fourth quarter of 2010 compared to $87,554 in the fourth quarter of 
2009. The increase in revenue is mainly due to an increase in income realized from real estate properties of $2,513, 
an increase in management and advisory fee revenue of $2,214 and the sale of housing lots of $1,045 during the 
fourth quarter of 2010.

Net income from continuing operations in the fourth quarter decreased by $224 to $12,687 compared to $12,911 
in the fourth quarter of 2009.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
(a) Morguard REIT
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard 
REIT, which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard REIT are recorded at the exchange 
amount, which is based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2010, a net amount 
of $604 is receivable from Morguard REIT. Such transactions with Morguard REIT for the year ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009, are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of dollars)    2010  2009

Statements of income:
     Property management and other   $ 8,166 $ 7,007
     Leasing    3,780  2,141
     Property administration fees    1,376  839
     Rental expense    (323)  (299)

    $ 12,999 $ 9,688

Loan Agreement With Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with Morguard REIT that provides for either party to borrow up  
to $30,000, at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the prime rate or the bankers’ 
acceptance rate plus applicable stamping fees. There was no borrowing by either party for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. During the year ended December 31, 2009, Morguard REIT borrowed $25,000, which was 
repaid on September 21, 2009. The interest earned for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $54.
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, Morguard borrowed $22,000 from Morguard REIT, which was repaid 
on December 14, 2009. The interest paid was $45.

(b) ClubLink Enterprises Limited
Management and Consulting Services
The Company provides ClubLink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of its 
subsidiaries. Mr. K. (Rai) Sahi is chairman and Chief Executive Officer and is a major shareholder of ClubLink 
through his holding company, Paros Enterprises Limited (“Paros”). Mr. Sahi is chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company. Paros is also a major shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of 
$240 for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $240) from ClubLink under a contractual agreement.

(c) Share/Unit Purchase Loans
Share/unit purchase loans to officers of the Company and Morguard REIT of $5,898 (December 31, 2009 – $6,891) 
are outstanding as at December 31, 2010. The loans are collateralized by the shares of the Company and the units 
of Morguard REIT and are interest-bearing computed at the Canadian prime interest rate and are due between 2011 
and 2015. The fair market value of the shares/units held as collateral is $29,701. Additionally, as at December 31, 
2010, a net amount of $368 (December 31, 2009 – $329) is receivable from Paros.

(d) Renasant Financial Partners Ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant Financial Partners Ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros 
is the majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $300 (2009 – $300) for the 
year ended December 31, 2010, under a contractual agreement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The financial statements are based on the selection and application of critical accounting policies set forth in the 
notes to the financial statements, the preparation of which requires management to make significant estimates 
and assumptions. Management believes that there are four critical areas of judgment in the application of 
accounting policies that affect the financial condition and results of operations of the Company: valuation of 
rental properties, revenue recognition, amortization and property acquisitions.

There are various estimates and assumptions related to the future liabilities of the Company’s pension plans.  
In determining estimates related to the pension plans, the assumptions underlying the plans’ current service  
cost and accrued benefit obligations are limited by the availability of actuarial valuation and the uncertainty of 
predictions concerning future events. Should the underlying assumptions change, actual results could differ from 
the estimated amounts.

Valuation of Rental Properties
Rental properties, the Company’s major asset class, are carried at the lower of depreciated cost or net recoverable 
amount on the assumption that the properties will be held for the long term. Net recoverable amount represents 
the estimated future cash flow from the use and residual value of the property on an undiscounted basis. The 
Company relies on assumptions of future rental income and expected future property values that could be 
affected by industry performance and prospects as well as the business and economic conditions that are 
expected to prevail during the holding period. Should the underlying assumptions change materially, the estimated 
net recoverable amount could change by a significant amount. These assessments have a direct impact on the 
Company’s net income, since impairment writedowns would have an immediate negative impact on net income.

Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue recognition policy relating to minimum rents does not require the use of estimates. 
Tenant reimbursement revenue includes estimates. The computation of cost reimbursements from tenants for 
realty taxes, insurance and common area maintenance charges is complex and involves a number of judgments, 
including the interpretation of terms and other tenant lease provisions. Tenant leases are not consistent in dealing 
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with such cost reimbursements, and variations in computations can exist. Adjustments are made throughout the 
year to these cost recovery revenues based upon the Company’s best estimate of the final amounts to be billed 
and collected.

Amortization
The Company has adopted the straight-line method of amortization. Under this method, amortization is charged 
to income on a straight-line basis over the remaining estimated useful life of the property. Management is required 
to make subjective assessments as to the useful life of the Company’s properties for purposes of determining the 
amount of amortization to reflect on an annual basis. These assessments have a direct impact on net income.

Property Acquisitions
In accordance with Canadian GAAP, the fair value of real estate acquired is allocated to tangible assets and 
identified intangible assets and liabilities, consisting of above-market and below-market leases, other value of 
in-place leases and the value of tenant relationships, in each case based on their fair values. Debt assumed in 
any property acquisition is required to be recorded at fair value. The procedures required in the determination 
of fair value are subject to estimation and management’s judgment.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management reports on a quarterly basis the fair value of financial instruments. The fair value of financial instruments 
approximates amounts at which these instruments could be exchanged between knowledgeable and willing 
parties. The estimated fair value may differ in amount from that which could be realized on an immediate settlement 
of the instruments. Management estimates the fair value of mortgages payable by discounting the cash flows of 
these financial obligations using December 31, 2010, market rates for debts of similar terms.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
All income property investments are subject to a degree of risk and uncertainty. Income from real estate assets 
is affected by various factors, including general economic conditions and local market circumstances. Local 
business conditions such as oversupply of space or a reduction in demand particularly affect income property 
investments. The following are business risks the Company expects to face in the normal course of its operations 
and management’s strategy to reduce the potential impact.

Operating Risk
Real estate has a high fixed cost associated with ownership, and income lost due to vacancies cannot easily  
be minimized through cost reduction. Tenant retention is critical to maintaining occupancy levels. Through  
well-located and professionally managed properties, management seeks to increase tenant loyalty and become 
the landlord of choice. Morguard reduces operating risk through diversification. The Company diversifies its 
portfolio by tenants, lease maturities, product and location.

As at December 31, 2010, the portfolio diversification as a percentage of net operating income is as follows:
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Financing Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit 
facilities secured by the Company’s properties will not be able to be refinanced or that the terms of such refinancing 
will not be as favourable as the terms of existing indebtedness. To minimize this risk, Morguard has structured 
its debt maturities over a number of years and has negotiated fixed interest rates on all of its mortgages payable, 
with the exception of three mortgages with a floating rate. To mitigate the interest rate risk on the refinancing of 
these mortgages, the Company entered into three interest rate swap transactions to acquire a fixed rate over 
the floating rate.

Credit Risk
The Company’s primary business is the ownership and operation of multi-unit residential, retail and office  
properties. The income stream, generated by tenants paying rent, can be affected by general and local economic 
conditions and by a change in the credit and financial stability of tenants. Examples of other local conditions that 
could adversely affect income include oversupply of space or reduced demand for rental space, the attractiveness 
of the Company’s properties compared to other space and fluctuation in real estate taxes, insurance and other 
operating costs. The Company may be adversely affected if tenants become unable to meet their financial  
obligations under their leases.

Retail shopping centres traditionally rely on anchor tenants (department stores, junior department stores or 
grocery stores) as a source of significant revenue and in terms of generating traffic for the mall. Accordingly, the 
risk is present that an anchor tenant will move out or experience a failure, which would have a negative impact 
on the subject property.

The Company’s largest tenant is the Government of Canada and its related agencies, which, combined, accounted 
for approximately $14 or 5.2% of 2010 property revenues. Based on 2010 revenues, no other tenant contributes 
more than 2% of property revenues.

Acquisition and Development Risk
The Company’s investment criteria are focused on well-located assets, with minimal leasing exposure in the short 
term and tenants with strong covenants. To mitigate development risk, the Company’s development criteria for 
greenfield development emphasizes prudent selection of development sites, minimal land banking and an  
adequate level of leasing prior to commencing construction. To further reduce risk, Morguard attempts to have 
interim financing and fixed construction contracts in place at the outset of any development.

Environmental Risk
As an owner and manager of real property, the Company is subject to various laws relating to environmental 
matters. These laws impose liability for the cost of removal and remediation of certain hazardous materials 
released or deposited on properties owned or managed by the Company or on adjacent properties. As a result, 
Phase 1 assessments are completed prior to the acquisition of any property. Once the property is acquired, 
environmental assessment programs ensure continued compliance with all laws and regulations governing  
environmental and related matters. Morguard’s management is responsible for ensuring compliance with  
environmental legislation and is required to report quarterly to the board of directors. The Company has certain 
properties that contain hazardous substances, and management has concluded that the necessary remediation 
costs will not have a material impact on its operations. The Company has obtained environmental insurance on 
certain assets to further manage risk.

Commercial Lease Rollover Risk
Lease rollover risk results from the possibility that the Company may experience difficulty in renewing leases as 
they expire or in re-leasing space vacated by a tenant upon expiry. Management attempts to stagger the lease 
expiry profile so that the Company is not exposed to disproportionate amounts of space expiring in any one year 
as set out in Table 15. Management further mitigates this risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio mix by both 
asset type and geographic location.
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Table 15: Lease Expiries

  2011   2012  2013 

Summary of Lease Expiries Total
as at December 31, 2010 Sq. Ft. Sq. Ft. % Sq. Ft. % Sq. Ft. %

Retail 3,933 545 14 440 11 414 11
Office 2,388 160 7 110 5 178 7
Industrial 538 23 4 54 10 90 17

Total 6,859 728 11 604 9 682 10

Foreign Exchange Risk
At December 31, 2010, the Canadian dollar value was US100.54 cents compared to US95.15 cents a year earlier. 
The average exchange rate for the year was US97.06 cents compared to US87.57 cents in 2009. The strengthening 
of the Canadian dollar during 2010 resulted in an unrealized foreign currency translation loss of approximately 
$3,714 recognized in other comprehensive income.

Risk of Natural Disasters
In the past, and prior to the Company’s acquisition of the U.S. portfolio, the Company’s U.S. properties sustained 
storm damages from the succession of hurricanes Katrina, Rita and Gustav. While the Company has insurance to 
cover a substantial portion of the cost of such events, our insurance includes deductible amounts, and certain 
items may not be covered by insurance. The Company’s operations and properties may be significantly affected 
by future hurricanes or other natural disasters. Future hurricanes or other natural disasters may cause us to lose 
rent and incur additional storm cleanup costs. Any of these events might have a materially adverse impact on 
our results of operations and financial condition.

Risk of Loss Not Covered by Insurance
The Company generally maintains insurance policies related to our business, including casualty, general liability 
and other policies covering our business operations, employees and assets; however, the Company would be 
required to bear all losses that are not adequately covered by insurance, as well as any insurance deductibles. In 
the event of a substantial property loss, the insurance coverage may not be sufficient to pay the full current 
market value or current replacement cost of the property. In the event of an uninsured loss, the Company could 
lose some or all of its capital investment, cash flow and anticipated profits related to one or more properties. 
Although the Company believes that our insurance programs are adequate, assurance cannot be provided that 
the Company will not incur losses in excess of insurance coverage or that insurance can be obtained in the future 
at acceptable levels and reasonable cost.

Risk Related to Insurance Renewals
Certain events could make it more difficult and expensive to obtain property and casualty insurance, including 
coverage for terrorism. When our current insurance policies expire, the Company may encounter difficulty in 
obtaining or renewing property or casualty insurance on our properties at the same levels of coverage and under 
similar terms. Such insurance may be more limited and, for catastrophic risks (e.g., earthquake, hurricane, flood 
and terrorism), may not be generally available to fully cover potential losses. Even if the Company is able to renew 
our policies at levels and with limitations consistent with our current policies, the Company cannot be sure that 
we will be able to obtain such insurance at premium rates that are commercially reasonable. If the Company was 
unable to obtain adequate insurance on our properties for certain risks, it could cause us to be in default under 
specific covenants on certain of our indebtedness or other contractual commitments we have that require us to 
maintain adequate insurance on our properties to protect against the risk of loss. If this were to occur or if the 
Company were unable to obtain adequate insurance and our properties experienced damages that would  
otherwise have been covered by insurance, it could adversely affect our financial condition and the operations 
of our properties.
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Relative Liquidity of Real Estate
Real estate is not considered to be a liquid investment, as it requires a reasonable sales period and normal market 
conditions to generate multiple bids to complete the sales process. The characteristics of the property being 
sold and general and local economic conditions can affect the time required to complete the sales process.

Significant competition exists that may decrease the rental rates and occupancy rates of the Company’s properties. 
The Company competes with many other real estate entities, major retailers and commercial developers. Some of 
these entities develop their own malls and community shopping centres that compete for tenants. New shopping 
centres or new multi-residential properties with more convenient locations or lower rental rates may cause tenants 
to leave the Company’s properties or may give cause for tenants to renew their leases on terms less favourable 
to the Company.

MORGUARD REIT UNITHOLDER TAXATION
At December 31, 2010, the Company owned 25,869,405 units of Morguard REIT. Under Part 1 of the Canadian 
Income Tax Act, a trust is not subject to income taxes to the extent that the income for tax purposes in a year 
does not exceed the amount distributed to its unitholders.

On June 12, 2007, legislation relating to the federal income taxation of a specified investment flow-through (“SIFT”) 
trust or partnership passed third reading and was subsequently enacted June 22, 2007. Under the SIFT rules, cer-
tain distributions attributable to a SIFT will not be deductible in computing the SIFT’s taxable income, and the 
SIFT will be subject to tax on such distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent to the general tax rate 
applicable to Canadian corporations. Distributions paid by a SIFT as returns of capital will not be subject to this tax.

The new taxation regime will not apply to certain SIFTs that were publicly listed before November 1, 2006 (“existing 
trusts”) until 2011; however, there will be circumstances where an existing trust may lose its transitional relief 
where the existing trust undergoes “undue expansion”. Under the SIFT rules, the new taxation regime will not 
apply to a trust that meets prescribed conditions relating to the nature of its income and investments (“the REIT 
exception”). Morguard REIT has reviewed its status under the legislation and has determined that it is not subject 
to this tax as it meets the REIT exception at December 31, 2010.

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board has mandated that all publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises 
adopt IFRS effective for interim and annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Company will issue 
its first interim financial statement under IFRS for the three-month period ending March 31, 2011, which will include 
comparative results for the three months ending March 31, 2010, and the opening balance sheet on transition as 
at January 1, 2010.

IFRS Conversion Plan
The Company is continuing to execute its IFRS conversion plan (“the plan”), which addresses the changes in 
accounting policies, the restatement of comparative periods, in-depth IFRS training and review sessions for both 
accounting and operations staff, as well as the changes required to business processes and internal controls. The 
plan continues to be monitored by the IFRS Steering Committee (the “Committee”), which consists of the chief 
financial officers of Morguard Corporation, Morguard Investments Limited and Morguard REIT, and the Committee 
continues to provide regular updates on the status of the plan to the Company’s Audit Committee, Board of 
Directors and executive management.

As a result of the Company’s completion of the opening IFRS balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 (“the opening 
balance sheet”) and the ongoing preparation of the quarterly IFRS comparative financial statements, the Company 
believes that its core accounting staff have obtained an appropriate understanding of IFRS as it applies to the 
Company’s financial reporting requirements. While new controls are being implemented to address certain 
unique IFRS accounting and disclosure requirements, such as the measurement of the Company’s real estate 
properties at fair value, the Company does not anticipate significant changes to its current accounting systems, 
its internal controls or its disclosure control process as a result of the conversion to IFRS.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Effect of Adoption of IFRS
IFRS is based on a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP; however, significant differences exist in 
certain areas of recognition, measurement and disclosure. While the adoption of IFRS will not have an impact on 
the Company’s reported net cash flows, the Company anticipates the transition to IFRS will have a material impact 
on the Company’s balance sheet and statement of income; the Company is continuing to evaluate the impact of 
IFRS to the presentation and classification in its statements of cash flow. In particular, the Company’s opening 
balance sheet will reflect a significant increase in the Company’s assets, and a corresponding increase in  
shareholders’ equity, as a result of the effect of valuing real estate properties at fair value. In addition, the 
changes to the opening balance sheet will require a corresponding tax adjustment to be recorded based on the 
resultant differences. The Company estimates that the impact of these differences on its January 1, 2010, opening 
balance sheet under IFRS compared to its December 31, 2009, balance sheet under Canadian GAAP will increase 
total shareholders’ equity from approximately $565,000 to approximately $1,200,000 or $86.51 per common 
share compared to $40.70 per common share under Canadian GAAP.

A reconciliation of the Company’s 2010 historical cost Canadian GAAP financial statements to IFRS has not been 
finalized. Accordingly, the impact of adopting IFRS on the Company’s financial position and results of operations as  
at and for the year ended December 31, 2010, cannot be quantified at this time. However, the Company anticipates 
the nature of the adjustments to be consistent with those described herein and has provided a description and, 
where possible, the approximate annual impact for the more significant recurring IFRS differences affecting  
net income.

IFRS 1: First-Time Adoption of IFRS
Adoption of IFRS will initially require retroactive application of all standards as at the transition date, January 1, 
2010. The standard requires that adjustments that arise on the conversion to IFRS from Canadian GAAP be  
recognized in the opening retained earnings on the transition date. IFRS 1, “First-Time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”) provides certain mandatory exemptions that allow for prospective 
treatment under certain conditions to certain standards. The following are the optional exemptions available 
under IFRS 1 that are significant to the Company and that the Company will apply in the preparation of its first 
financial statements under IFRS:

Business combinations – Under IFRS and Canadian GAAP, all business combinations must be accounted for 
using the acquisition method. Under IFRS 1, the Company may elect to not restate any business combinations 
prior to the transition date or restate all business combinations after a selected date. Since the Company will 
adopt the fair value model for real estate property, management will be adopting the IFRS 1 exemption to not 
restate business combinations prior to the IFRS transition date.

employee benefits – Under IFRS 1, the Company will elect, at the transition date, to recognize through retained 
earnings all cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses relating to its defined benefit pension plans.

Cumulative translation difference – Under IFRS 1, the Company may elect to deem the cumulative translation 
differences for all foreign operations to be nil at the transition date. The gain or loss on a subsequent disposal 
of a foreign operation will exclude translation differences that arose prior to the transition date. If this exemption 
is elected, it must be applied to all cumulative translation differences. The Company expects to deem all cumulative 
translation differences to be zero on transition to IFRS by adjusting the cumulative amounts through opening 
retained earnings.

IFRS 1 allows for certain other option exemptions; however, the Company does not expect such exemptions to 
be significant to its adoption of IFRS.
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Impact of IFRS on Financial Position
The following paragraphs quantify and describe the impact of significant differences between the Company’s 
December 31, 2009, balance sheet under Canadian GAAP and its January 1, 2010, opening balance sheet under 
IFRS. This discussion has been prepared using the standards and interpretations currently issued and expected 
to be effective at the end of the Company’s first annual IFRS reporting period, which will be the year ending 
December 31, 2011. Certain accounting policies expected to be adopted under IFRS may not be adopted, and 
the application of such policies to certain transactions or circumstances may be modified and, as a result, the 
impact of the Company’s conversion to IFRS may be different than its current expectation. The underlying values 
presented below are prepared using the procedures and assumptions that the Company is following in preparing 
its opening balance sheet upon adoption of IFRS.

Real Estate Properties
Under IFRS, investment property is defined as property that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
purposes or both. Under Canadian GAAP, the Company measures its real estate properties using the historical 
cost model. Under IFRS, the Company has the choice of whether to use the historical cost model or the fair value 
model. With the fair value model, real estate properties will be recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at 
their fair value, and changes in fair value each period will be recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings. 
The Company has elected to adopt the fair value model when preparing its financial statements under IFRS. The 
Company has determined that the fair value of its real estate and development properties at January 1, 2010, is 
approximately $535,000 greater than the carrying value under Canadian GAAP. The IFRS and Canadian GAAP 
carrying values both include straight-line rent, direct leasing costs, lease incentives and intangible liabilities 
(below-market leases). The Company had its Canadian portfolio internally appraised by its appraisal division, and 
the U.S. portfolio was predominantly externally appraised by an independent national U.S. real estate appraisal 
firm. The Company’s appraisal division is staffed with five accredited members of the Appraisal Institute of 
Canada who collectively in 2010 valued over $8.5 billion of real estate properties in Canada for institutional and 
corporate clients. Approximately 30% of the Company’s portfolio was externally appraised. All income-producing 
properties were appraised using a number of approaches that typically include a discounted cash flow analysis, 
a direct capitalization approach and a direct comparison approach. Using the direct capitalization income 
approach as a reporting parameter, individual properties were valued using capitalization rates in the range of 
5.8% to 9.5% applied to a stabilized net operating income, resulting in an overall weighted average capitalization 
rate of 7.1%.

In addition, the Bramalea City Centre co-ownership, of which the Company owns 20.7%, will be accounted for 
under IFRS using the proportionate consolidation method. Currently, under Canadian GAAP, the co-ownership 
is accounted for using the cost method. The impact of this change will increase the carrying value of the property 
by approximately $24,000 as a result of adopting the fair value model for real estate properties.

Amounts Receivables and Leasing Costs
Straight-line rent receivable, lease incentives and direct leasing costs that are currently reflected in amounts 
receivable and other assets under Canadian GAAP will be included in the carrying value of the real estate  
properties in the Company’s IFRS balance sheet. The Company has determined that the balance of the  
amounts receivable and other assets will decrease by $12,000 and $5,000, respectively, under IFRS as a result of 
the reclassification of these balances to real estate properties.

Investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust
The Company accounts for its investment in Morguard REIT using the equity method. As a result of Morguard 
REIT adopting the fair value method of accounting for its investment properties, the Company’s investment in 
Morguard REIT will increase by approximately $200,000, which represents 45.5% of Morguard REIT’s fair value 
increase in investment properties.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Intangible Assets and Liabilities
Intangible assets and liabilities recorded under Canadian GAAP in connection with business combinations or 
asset acquisitions are no longer separately recognized under IFRS since they will be reflected in the fair value of 
investment properties.

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Asset
As a result of the election under IFRS 1, whereby the Company will elect at the transition date to recognize 
through retained earnings all the cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and transitional obligation 
relating to its defined benefit pension plans, the Company’s accrued pension benefit asset will increase by 
approximately $17,000 on January 1, 2010.

Future Income Tax Liability
The Company has determined that its future income tax liability at January 1, 2010, will increase by approximately 
$60,000 as a result of the increase in the carrying value of the Company’s investment properties. The future 
income tax liability under IFRS has been determined by tax effecting the increase in fair value at the capital gains 
tax rate based on the presumption that the method of realization will be through the sale of the property. In addition, 
the Company will record a future income tax liability of approximately $30,000 pertaining to the increase in its 
investment in MRT and approximately $4,000 pertaining to the increase in the defined benefit pension plan asset.

Mortgages Payable
The Company’s accounting policy under Canadian GAAP is to expense indirect financing costs that are attributable 
to the issue of financial liabilities; these include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and advisers and 
transfer taxes and duties. Under IFRS these indirect financing costs are included in the carrying amount of the 
related debt and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the terms of the debts to which  
they relate. The impact of the capitalization of indirect financing fees will be to reduce the amount of mortgages  
payable by approximately $1,300 at January 1, 2010.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company’s accounting policy under Canadian GAAP is to measure its stock appreciation rights plan (the 
“SARs plan”) using the intrinsic method; however IFRS requires the shares issued under the SARs plan to be fair 
valued at each reporting date. The Company will use the Black-Scholes model to fair value the shares, and will 
incorporate certain assumptions and estimates that have been determined by the Company.

Impact of IFRS on Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
The following paragraphs highlight the significant recurring differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS that 
affect net income. Such discussion has been prepared on a basis consistent with all known IFRS to Canadian 
GAAP differences using the accounting policies expected to be applied by the Company in its first annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS using the standards anticipated to be in effect at that time. To the 
extent the accounting policies expected to be applied by the Company on adoption of IFRS change, new standards 
are issued that are required to be adopted by the Company or the Company identifies additional differences as 
it completes its assessment of IFRS, the amounts and discussion below may be impacted.

Fair Value Changes
Under IFRS the Company has elected to adopt the fair value model to account for its real estate properties, and 
changes in fair value each period will be recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings. Net income will increase 
or decrease under IFRS depending on the fair value adjustment that is recorded during the reporting period.

Amortization Expense
Under the fair value model, amortization of investment properties is not recorded. Additionally, the transition to 
IFRS in conjunction with the use of the fair value model would result in historical intangible balances established 
under Canadian GAAP in respect of business combinations to no longer be separately recognized and, accordingly, 
not amortized under IFRS. The impact of no longer recording amortization expense on the Company’s real estate 
properties would result in an increase to net income of approximately $58,000 on an annualized basis.
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Revenue Recognition
IFRS requires rental revenue to be determined on a straight-line basis considering all rentals from the inception 
of the lease, whereas Canadian GAAP only required rental income to be recognized on a straight-line basis  
prospectively commencing January 1, 2004. The impact of this difference, applied retrospectively, would result 
in a reduction of net income under IFRS. For the year ended December 31, 2010, this reduction is expected to  
be insignificant.

Under IFRS the Company will no longer separately account for intangible assets and liabilities related to acquired 
above- and below-market tenant leases. The related amortization of these balances to income from real estate 
properties will be eliminated under IFRS. The Company expects that this difference will result in a reduction of 
revenue under IFRS of approximately $2,500 on an annualized basis.

In addition, the definition of tenant incentives differs under IFRS, and certain payments that the Company makes 
to its tenants will be classified as lease incentives under IFRS, and the amortization of these lease incentives will 
be recorded as a reduction of rental revenue. The Company expects that the amortization of lease incentives 
will result in a reduction of revenue under IFRS of approximately $2,900 on an annualized basis. The reductions 
in revenue from amortization of lease incentives will not have a material impact on net income since changes in 
the fair value of the properties will offset the increased amortization expense.

Interest Expense
Under IFRS, the result of indirect financing fees being amortized over the term of the debt to which they relate 
will increase amortization of financing fees.

Income Taxes
The Company will need to record in future income tax expense the corresponding tax effect of the differences 
between IFRS and Canadian GAAP that will have an impact on the statement of income.

Impact of IFRS on Consolidated Funds From Operations
Consolidated funds from operations (“FFO”) will be impacted under IFRS as a result of the amortization of above- 
and below-market leases, which will no longer be recorded under IFRS. For the Company, the net impact of this 
amortization will reduce FFO under IFRS, as will the additional amortization of straight-line rental income, which 
will be recorded under IFRS. Under REALpac’s definition of FFO for IFRS, FFO is adjusted for and therefore not 
impacted by the amortization of tenant incentives and for changes in fair value that are recorded during the 
reporting period.

Potential Impact of New Standards
Management continues to monitor developments in standards that are expected to change subsequent to the 
mandatory transition date of January 1, 2010. Summarized below are developments in those standards that could 
have a significant impact on the Company’s financial performance if in effect or available to early adopt for the 
year ending December 31, 2011.

IAS 17 Leases
In August 2010 the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) published an exposure draft on leases 
that proposes a “right-of-use” approach that requires lessees to recognize an asset for its right to use the leased 
asset for the lease term and a corresponding liability for the committed cash flows. This treatment will effectively 
eliminate operating leases and account for all leases as finance leases.

From the landlord’s perspective, the changes in lease accounting could result in the lessor (the Company)  
derecognizing its real estate property and recognizing a sale, or recording a deferred revenue amount and a 
corresponding lease receivable. However, it is expected that tenant leases will be scoped out of the new leasing 
standard if the fair value model is selected for investment property, in which case tenant leases will continue to 
be treated as operating leases. Since the Company has elected to adopt the fair value model for its real estate 
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properties, this standard should not have a significant impact on the Company. The IASB is expected to issue 
the final standard on leases in June 2011, with an expected transition date of January 1, 2013.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
The IASB is planning to issue the final standard on consolidation, IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, in 
the first quarter of 2011. The proposed standard addresses a revised definition of control that states that an entity 
has control over another entity if it has the ability to direct the activities of that entity, even if the investor holds 
less than 50% of the voting rights of the investee. The impact of this standard will be significant if the Company 
is required to account for its investment in Morguard REIT using the consolidation method. Currently, under 
Canadian GAAP, the Company accounts for its investment in Morguard REIT using the equity method. The IASB has 
tentatively agreed to an effective date of no earlier than January 1, 2013; however, earlier adoption is permitted.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES CONCERNING FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The Company’s management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and  
procedures and based on such evaluation has concluded that their design and operation are adequate and 
effective as of the year ended December 31, 2010. The Company’s management has also evaluated the effectiveness 
of the internal controls over financial reporting and has concluded that the design and operation are effective as 
of the year ended December 31, 2010.

The financial certification process project team has documented and assessed the design and effectiveness of 
the internal controls in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. This undertaking has enabled the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to 
attest that the design and effectiveness of the internal controls with regard to financial information are effective. 
In order to ensure that the consolidated financial statements and MD&A present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company and the results of its operations, management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures, as well as internal control over financial reporting.

An information disclosure policy constitutes the framework for the information disclosure process with regard to 
the annual and interim filings, as well as to other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation. This policy 
aims in particular at identifying material information and validating the related reporting. The Disclosure Committee, 
established in 2005, is responsible for ensuring compliance with this policy. Senior management acts as the  
Disclosure Committee, ensuring compliance with this policy and reviewing main documents to be filed with regulatory 
authorities to ensure that all significant information regarding operations is communicated in a timely manner.

During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2010, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 3, 2011, the Company renewed one of its credit facilities with a Canadian chartered bank. The  
availability of borrowings under the renewed credit facility was increased from $50,000 to $100,000. Under the 
renewed credit facility, the Company has the option to borrow funds in U.S. dollars.

On January 5, 2011, the Company advanced $4,000 to ClubLink under its revolving loan agreement. On February 4, 
2011, ClubLink repaid the balance of the loan.

On January 21, 2011, the Company advanced $5,269 to the MIL Fund to fund its portion of the equity required to 
purchase two real estate properties.

On February 28, 2011, the Company acquired a retail, unenclosed shopping centre in southeastern Florida comprising 
224,000 square feet for a purchase price of US$59 million. The acquisition was funded with cash.
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OUTLOOK
The recovery experienced in the North American real estate markets during 2010 has been driven in part by  
the relatively strong performance of the Canadian economy, by the continuing availability of low-cost debt  
and equity capital, and by the overall health of leasing markets in most Canadian property sectors. Despite the 
general feeling of optimism currently felt in the Canadian marketplace, the outlook for 2011 remains uncertain. 
The rapid pace of recovery set by Canada in 2010 has slowed, at least in part as a result of broader international 
forces. The U.S. has yet to establish a firm economic or job growth trend, and European debt concerns continue 
to hurt confidence levels. While capital markets, as the leading indicator of recovery, have revived, the outlook 
calls for slower than average economic growth in the next few years. Over the long run, real estate performance 
may be negatively impacted if the pace of economic recovery is sluggish or if another foreign or domestic  
economic setback is experienced.

Morguard will continue to strive for a conservative capital structure. The Company currently has over $150 million 
of cash, available credit facilities and loans receivable due within twelve months. The Company is cautiously 
optimistic in its outlook for 2011 and, if current conditions persist, expects growth in earnings and funds from 
operations to occur through opportunistic investments.
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The financial statements of Morguard Corporation have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Management is responsible for the information contained 
in these consolidated financial statements and other sections of this annual report.

Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s assets 
are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely financial information. Where 
necessary, management uses its judgment to make estimates required to ensure fair and consistent presentation 
of this information. Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance 
with applicable laws and proper standards of conduct.

As at December 31, 2010, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused the evaluation 
under their direct supervision, the disclosure controls and procedures and the internal controls over financial 
reporting (as defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-109, “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 
Filings”) and, based on that assessment, determined that the disclosure controls and procedures were designed 
and operating effectively and the internal controls over financial reporting were designed and operating effectively.

The Audit Committee of the board of directors of the Company, consisting solely of independent directors, has 
reviewed the consolidated financial statements, the report to shareholders of the external auditors, Ernst & 
Young LLP, and the management’s discussion and analysis with management and recommended their approval 
to the board of directors. The board of directors has approved the consolidated financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP, as independent auditor, has conducted the audits in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards and has had full access to the Audit Committee, with and without management 
being present. 

K. (Rai) Sahi Paul Miatello
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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To the Shareholders of Morguard Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Morguard Corporation as at December 31, 
2010 and 2009, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and for such internal control as management 
determines necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are  
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Morguard Corporation as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants Toronto, Canada
Licensed Public Accountants March 2, 2011

InDePenDenT AUDITORS’ RePORT
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note  2010  2009

ASSETS
Real estate properties  3 $ 1,625,335 $ 1,604,237
Investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust  4  211,458  229,346
Amounts receivable    43,353  43,868
Mortgages and loans receivable  5, 15  85,339  62,933
Other assets  6  40,403  45,983
Goodwill    24,488  24,488
Cash and cash equivalents    27,535  40,866

    $ 2,057,911 $ 2,051,721

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Mortgages payable  7 $ 1,213,711 $ 1,229,642
Bank indebtedness  8  43,805  17,338
Loan payable  9  27,066  20,266
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    60,223  58,813
Intangible liabilities    17,178  20,835
Future income tax liabilities  16  137,754  138,851

     1,499,737  1,485,745

Non-controlling interest    1,103  1,329

Shareholders’ equity    557,071  564,647

    $ 2,057,911 $ 2,051,721

Commitments and contingencies  20

See accompanying notes.

On behalf of the Board:

K. (Rai) Sahi Wayne M. E. McLeod
Director Director
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Years ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  Note  2010  2009

REVENUE
Income from real estate properties   $ 277,762 $ 280,202
Management and advisory fees    65,921  63,440
Sales of product and land    6,284  5,125

     349,967  348,767

EXPENSES
Property operating    125,932  129,276
Interest  11  68,814  71,546
Amortization  12  63,161  66,931
Property management and corporate    58,467  54,983
Cost of sales of product and land    4,196  3,688

     320,570  326,424

Gain on sale of real estate properties  3  9,971  1,471
Equity income from Morguard REIT – continuing operations  4  12,960  12,788
Other income (expense), net  13  11,446  7,697
Provision for impairment of real estate properties  14  (209)  (7,729)
Non-controlling interest    159  74

     34,327  14,301

Income before income taxes and discontinued operations    63,724  36,644

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes  16
Current    16,971  11,763
Future    2,312  (4,250)

     19,283  7,513

Net income from continuing operations    44,441  29,131
Equity income from Morguard REIT – discontinued operations, net of tax    111  1,160

Net income for the year   $ 44,552 $ 30,291

Income per share  17
Basic and diluted – continuing operations    $3.28  $2.07
Basic and diluted – discontinued operations    0.00  0.09
Basic and diluted – net income    3.28  2.16

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
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Years ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note  2010  2009

Net income for the year   $ 44,552 $ 30,291
Unrealized foreign currency translation loss    (3,714)  (11,144)
Loss on interest rate swap agreement, net of tax1    (1,330)  (992)
Reclassification for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    (925)  –
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    –  925
Amortization of cash flow hedge, net of tax2    698  884
Amortization of cash flow hedge – Morguard REIT  4  419  410

Total comprehensive income   $ 39,700 $ 20,374

1 Net of tax of $434 for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $339).
2 Net of tax of $237 for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $302).

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
COMpREhENSIvE INCOME 

CJ22423 Text.indd   45 11-03-29   5:09 PM



46 MORGUARD CORPORATION

Years ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars)  Note  2010  2009

Share capital
Balance, beginning of year   $ 123,423 $ 124,320
Issuance of common shares    15  1,108
Repurchase of common shares  10  (8,059)  (2,005)

Balance, end of year    115,379  123,423

Retained earnings
Balance, beginning of year    446,876  428,836
Adjustment to prior year future income tax provision  2  1,197  –

Balance, beginning of year (as restated)    448,073  428,836
Net income for the year    44,552  30,291
Dividends    (8,009)  (8,398)
Excess of purchase price of common shares over average carrying value    (32,420)  (3,853)

Balance, end of year    452,196  446,876

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Balance, beginning of year    (5,652)  4,265
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment    (3,714)  (11,144)
Loss on interest rate swap agreement, net of tax    (1,330)  (992)
Reclassification for gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    (925)  –
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale marketable securities    –  925
Amortization of cash flow hedge, net of tax    698  884
Amortization of cash flow hedge – Morguard REIT  4  419  410

Balance, end of year    (10,504)  (5,652)

Shareholders’ equity   $ 557,071 $ 564,647

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
ShAREhOLDERS’ EqUITY
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Years ended December 31
(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)  Note  2010  2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income from continuing operations   $ 44,441 $ 29,131
Items not affecting cash  18(a)  40,678  53,077
Distributions from Morguard REIT    23,060  23,283
Investment in land held for and under development, net    (3,130)  251
Deferred leasing cost additions    (662)  (549)
Net change in operating assets and liabilities  18(b)  2,413  134

Cash provided by operating activities    106,800  105,327

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new mortgages    56,289  129,330
Financing costs on new mortgages    (742)  (2,227)
Repayment of mortgages
     Repayments on maturity and early extinguishment    (7,409)  (64,708)
     Principal instalment repayments    (26,365)  (24,880)
     Amortization of fair value adjustments    (258)  (274)
Net proceeds (repayment) of bank indebtedness    26,234  (43,377)
Loan payable    6,800  10,290
Dividends paid    (7,990)  (8,383)
Shares purchased for cancellation    (40,479)  (5,858)
Proceeds on issue of common shares    –  1,094
Net advances to Morguard REIT  15  –  (3,000)
Net payments from Morguard REIT  15  –  3,000
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash    (804)  408

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    5,276  (8,585)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to real estate properties and capital assets    (131,787)  (37,385)
Proceeds (investment) in publicly traded securities    9,005  (7,775)
Proceeds from sale of real estate properties  3  1,484  6,051
Increase in mortgages and loans receivable  5  (3,568)  (46,623)
Investment in subsidiaries    –  (2,930)

Cash used in investing activities    (124,866)  (88,662)

Cash (used in) provided by continuing operations    (12,790)  8,080
Net effect of foreign currency translation on cash balance    (541)  (1,662)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year    40,866  34,448

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 27,535 $ 40,866

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
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Note 1 

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Morguard Corporation (the “Company” or “Morguard”) is a real estate investment and management corporation 
formed under the laws of Canada. Morguard’s principal activities include property ownership, development and 
investment advisory services. Property ownership encompasses interests in both commercial and residential real 
estate. The Company owns a diverse portfolio of properties in Canada and the southeast United States.

Note 2

SIgNIFIcANT AccOUNTINg POlIcIES
Basis of Presentation
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”).

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its subsidiaries and the Company’s 
proportionate share of the accounts of its co-ownership interests, which include incorporated and unincorp-
orated joint ventures. The Company consolidates its principal operating companies based on ownership interests. 
The Company’s investment in Morguard Real Estate Investment Trust (“Morguard REIT”) is accounted for using 
the equity method as the Company exercises significant influence.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP requires management to make esti-
mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting periods. In determining estimates of net recoverable amounts and net realizable 
values for its real estate assets, the assumptions underlying estimated values are limited by the availability of 
comparable data and the uncertainty of predictions concerning future events. Should the underlying assumptions 
change, actual results could differ from the estimated amounts.

Real Estate Properties
Real estate properties are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization. Cost includes acquisition costs and, 
while under development, interest, realty taxes and other carrying costs, general and administrative expenses 
including salaries that can be clearly identified with the development and construction of the property, initial 
leasing costs and property operating expenses net of rents charged during the development period.

Under the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 3061, “Property, Plant and 
Equipment”, buildings are required to be amortized on a systematic and rational basis over their life expectancy. 
The Company amortizes the building costs of its real estate properties on a straight-line basis over their  
estimated useful lives, which do not exceed 40 years.

In addition, real estate properties include tenant allowances whereby the Company is considered the owner of 
the leasehold improvements. The leasehold improvement is amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the 
leasehold improvement or the lease term.

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds the sum of the  
undiscounted net cash flows expected from its use and anticipated disposal value. The impairment recognized 
is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(All amounts are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts)
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Properties Held for Development
The cost of properties under development includes all expenditures incurred in connection with the acquisition, 
including other direct costs, realty taxes and tenanting of the building to prepare it for its productive use, the 
applicable portion of general and administrative expenses and interest on debt related to the development.

Properties held for development and sale are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realizable 
value represents the amount of estimated net sales proceeds, taking into account management’s assumptions 
and projections for the development of the property and market conditions.

Real Estate Investments
Real estate investments represent the Company’s interests in three partnerships and one co-ownership, which is 
accounted for using the cost method. Real estate investments are carried at cost. In the event of a decline in the 
value of the real property, other than a temporary decline, the investments will be written down to recognize the 
loss. Investments whereby the Company exercises significant influence are accounted for using the equity method 
and those whereby the Company does not exercise significant influence are accounted for using the cost method.

Real Estate Property Acquisitions
The purchase price of any property acquired is allocated to land, building and intangibles (lease origination 
costs, the value of above- and below-market leases, the value of in-place leases and tenant relationships, if any) 
based on fair value. The fair value of the tangible assets is determined on an as-if-vacant basis.

The fair value of the remaining term of acquired above- and below-market-rate leases is equal to the aggregate 
present value of the spread between the contract and the market rate of each of the in-place leases. The values 
of the above- and below-market-rate leases are amortized and recorded to income from properties over the 
remaining initial term of the related acquired leases.

Lease origination costs are determined based on the estimates of the costs that would be incurred to put the 
existing leases in place under the same terms and conditions. These costs include the lease commissions, tenant 
inducements (other than for lessor-owned leasehold improvements) and other fees incurred to initiate leases, 
such as legal and tenant coordination costs. The value allocated to lease origination costs is amortized over the 
remaining initial term of the lease.

The value of acquired in-place leases is the present value of the estimated lost rental revenue from existing leases 
during the estimated hypothetical time period to replace the lease portfolio in place on acquisition. The value 
allocated to in-place leases is amortized over the remaining initial term of the respective leases.

The acquired tenant relationship value is determined based on the costs avoided if the respective tenants were 
to renew their leases at the end of the existing term. The value of the relationship is calculated using an assumption 
of probability of the lease renewal and the value of the lease. The value allocated to tenant relationships is  
amortized over the expected term of the relationship.

In the event a tenant terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of the related intangible values is expensed.

Co-Ownerships
A variable interest entity (“VIE”) is an entity where (a) its equity investment at risk is insufficient to permit the 
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated support from others and/or where certain essential 
characteristics of a controlling financial interest are not met and (b) it does not meet the specified exemption 
criteria. The primary beneficiary is the enterprise that will absorb or receive the majority of the VIE’s expected 
losses, expected residual returns or both. Canadian GAAP requires the consolidation of VIEs by the primary 
beneficiary. The Company has concluded that its co-ownerships are not VIEs and, accordingly, continues to 
account for its co-ownerships, with the exception of the co-ownership referred to in the “Real Estate Investments” 
section above, using the proportionate consolidation method.

noteS to ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
In tHouSAnDS oF CAnADIAn Doll ArS, eXCept per SHAre AMountS
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Investment in Morguard REIT
Entities that are not controlled, but over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, are 
accounted for using the equity method. The Company accounts for its investment in Morguard REIT using the 
equity method.

Deferred Expenses
Leasing Costs
Leasing costs include initial direct costs associated with leasing activities such as commissions. These costs are 
included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the leases to which they relate.

Financing Costs
Direct financing costs are presented as a reduction from the carrying amount of the related debt and are amortized 
using the effective interest rate method over the terms of the related debt.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term deposits with remaining 
maturities at the time of acquisition of three months or less. Bank borrowings are considered to be financing 
activities.

Goodwill
On acquisition of a business, the underlying fair value of net identifiable tangible and intangible assets is determined, 
and goodwill is recognized as the excess of the purchase price over this amount. Goodwill is not amortized. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis to determine whether the fair value of the reporting unit to 
which goodwill has been attributed is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit’s net assets including 
goodwill, thus indicating impairment. Any impairment is then recorded as a separate charge against income and 
a reduction of the carrying value of goodwill.

Capital Assets
Capital assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided over the estimated 
useful lives using the following rates and methods:

Furniture, office and computer equipment 10–20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements Straight-line over the term of the lease
Condominium Straight-line over 40 years

Income Taxes
The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation, 
future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in 
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

During the three months ended June 30, 2010, the Company identified an error in the tax rate that had been used 
to calculate the future tax liability as at December 31, 2009. Because the future enacted tax rate decreased from 
25.5% to 25.0% in November 2009, the impact of this reduction in income tax rates is an overstatement of the 
future tax liability in the amount of $1,197 as at December 31, 2009. Since this error is not material to prior year 
financial statements, the Company has corrected the error by increasing the opening retained earnings as at 
January 1, 2010, by $1,197.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLL ARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS
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Employee Future Benefits
The Company provides pensions to certain of its employees under two defined benefit arrangements and  
recognizes the cost of the defined benefit plans in the period in which the employee has rendered services. The 
cost of benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on 
service and management’s best estimate of expected returns on plan assets, compensation increases, retirement 
ages of employees and future termination levels. No past service costs have been incurred under these plans. 
For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value. Actuarial 
gains and losses are amortized over the average remaining service period of employees only if, in the aggregate, 
they are in excess of 10% of the gross pension obligation or total plan assets, whichever is greater. The discount 
rate used to calculate pension obligations is determined on the basis of current market rates and re-evaluated 
at each year-end.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has a stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) plan, which entitles specified officers of Morguard and 
affiliated entities and directors to receive a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s 
common shares at the time of exercise over the grant-date price of the right. The SARs granted will vest equally 
over 10 years.

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan. The fair value of any stock options granted to employees 
and directors will be recognized as compensation expense and contributed surplus over the applicable vesting 
period. Any consideration paid by employees or directors on subsequent exercise of stock options will be credited 
to capital stock along with the related accumulated contributed surplus amount. No stock options were granted 
in 2010 and 2009.

Revenue Recognition
Income from properties includes rents from tenants under leases, percentage participation rents, property taxes, 
operating and cost recoveries, lease cancellation fees, leasing concessions, parking income and incidental 
income. Percentage participation rent is recognized after the minimum sales level has been achieved in accordance 
with each lease. All other rental revenue is recognized in accordance with each lease.

Income from real estate properties recorded in the consolidated statements of income during free rent periods 
represents future cash receipts and is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets in amounts receivable and 
recognized in the consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the initial term of the lease. 
The Company accounts for stepped rents on a straight-line basis. Rents recorded in advance of cash received 
are included in amounts receivable. Tenant inducements are deducted from rental revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the tenant’s lease.

Revenue from development activities related to commercial real estate is recognized upon the earlier of attaining 
a break-even point in cash flow after debt servicing, a predetermined level of occupancy or the expiration of a  
reasonable period of time following substantial completion subject to the time limitation determined at the time 
of approval of the project. Revenue from development activities related to residential real estate is recognized after 
a predetermined level of occupancy is achieved within a predetermined time limit. Prior to this time, the property 
is categorized as a development property, and revenues earned are recorded as a reduction of capitalized costs.

Revenue from land sales and gains from the sale of real estate properties are recognized when all material conditions 
of the related agreement of purchase and sale have been met, the risks of ownership have passed to the  
purchaser and at least 15% of the total purchase price has been received.

Management and advisory fees and sales of product are recognized when the service is performed or goods are 
shipped and ownership is legally transferred.

noteS to ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
In tHouSAnDS oF CAnADIAn Doll ArS, eXCept per SHAre AMountS
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Discontinued Operations
Discontinued operations include the income and cash flows from real estate properties with which the Company 
will have no ongoing involvement or significant continuing cash flows from the beginning of the period to the 
date the properties are sold. Income and cash flows from assets held for sale with which the Company will have 
no ongoing involvement or significant continuing cash flows are also included in discontinued operations.

Foreign Exchange
The operations of the Company’s U.S.-based subsidiaries are self-sustaining. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities 
of foreign subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the rates on the consolidated balance sheet dates. 
Revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate of exchange for the period. The resulting gains and 
losses are recorded as accumulated other comprehensive income.

     2010  2009

Canadian dollar to United States dollar exchange rates:
     December 31    $1.0054  $0.9515
     Average during the year    $0.9706  $0.8757
United States dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rates:
     December 31    $0.9946  $1.0510
     Average during the year    $1.0303  $1.1420

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity from transactions and other events from non-owner 
sources. Other comprehensive income refers to items recognized in comprehensive income that are excluded 
from net income calculated in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Accordingly, the Company prepares consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income and includes accumulated other comprehensive income as a component 
of shareholders’ equity within the consolidated balance sheets.

Income Per Share
Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding in each respective period. The Company uses the treasury stock method for the calculation of the 
dilutive effect of stock options. Diluted income per share is calculated by dividing net income, adjusted for the 
effect of dilutive securities, by the weighted average diluted shares outstanding.

Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments must be classified into one of these five categories: held-for-trading, held-to-maturity, loans 
and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments, including 
derivatives, are measured in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value except for loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments and other financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method.

The CICA Handbook establishes standards for presentation of financial instruments and non-financial derivatives 
and identifies the information that should be disclosed about them. Under the standards, policies followed for 
periods prior to the effective date generally are not reversed.

The Company designated its cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair value. 
Amounts receivable and mortgages and loans receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are  
measured at amortized cost. Investments in publicly traded securities, included in other assets, have been  
classified as available-for-sale, and the unrealized gains and losses on these securities are recorded in other  
comprehensive income. Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt obligations 
are classified as other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. Real estate investments are 
available-for-sale and are carried at cost as there is no public market.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLL ARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS
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Derivatives and Embedded Derivatives
All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets  
at fair value unless exempted from derivative treatment as a normal purchase and sale. All changes in their  
fair value are recorded in income unless cash flow hedge accounting is used, in which case changes in fair  
value are recorded in other comprehensive income to the extent of hedge effectiveness. Financial guarantees  
are recorded at their inception date fair value and reversed as the Company is relieved of its guarantee 
obligations.

Hedges
Derivative financial instruments are utilized to reduce interest rate risk on the Company’s debt. Interest rate swap 
agreements are used to manage the fixed and floating interest rate mix of the Company’s total debt portfolio 
and related overall cost of borrowing. Such instruments are designated, and are effective, as hedges of certain 
of the Company’s interest rate risk exposures. The interest rate swap agreements involve the periodic exchange 
of payments without the exchange of the notional principal amount upon which the payments are based. The 
net receipt or payment of interest will be recorded as an adjustment to interest expense in each period.

Gains and losses on termination of interest rate swap agreements that were designated, and were effective, as 
hedges of certain interest rate risk exposures are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and  
are amortized in interest expense over the remaining term of the original contract life of the terminated swap 
agreement. Interest expense on the related debt obligation together with this deferred financing cost amortization 
reflects the overall costs of such borrowing.

Transaction Costs
Transaction costs that are attributable to the issue of financial liabilities are accounted for as an expense at the 
inception of the liability. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and advisers 
and transfer taxes and duties but exclude debt discounts and premiums and direct financing costs.

Fair Value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that could be agreed upon in an arm’s-
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. In certain 
circumstances, however, the initial fair value may be based on other observable current market transactions  
in the same instrument, without modification or on a valuation technique using market-based inputs. The 
Company’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, mortgages and loans receivable 
and investments in publicly traded securities. The Company’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities, mortgages and loan payable and bank indebtedness. Except as noted below, the carrying 
values of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values because of the short 
period of time until the receipt or payment of cash. The fair values of mortgages and loans receivable are based 
on the current market conditions for financing loans with similar terms and risks. The loan payable is reflected at 
fair value since the loan’s interest rate is based on a floating interest rate using the 30-day Canadian bankers’ 
acceptance rate as the benchmark. The fair values of designated hedging derivatives included in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities are estimated based on discounted future cash flows using discount rates that reflect  
current market conditions for instruments with similar terms and risks.

Fair value measurements recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized using a fair value  
hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs used in determining the fair values:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2:  Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or valuation techniques where significant 

inputs are based on observable market data.
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety.

noteS to ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
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Adoption of New Accounting Policies
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board determined that IFRS would replace current Canadian GAAP  
for publicly accountable companies. The Company will adopt IFRS effective for the interim and annual periods 
commencing January 1, 2011, including the preparation and reporting of one year of comparative figures.

Note 3

ReAl estAte PRoPeRties
Real estate properties consist of the following:
        2010   2009

    Accumulated Net Book Net Book
As at December 31    Cost Amortization  Value  Value

Real estate properties
Land   $ 340,893 $ – $ 340,893 $ 341,636
Buildings    1,346,573  276,366  1,070,207  1,066,400
Intangible assets
     In-place lease costs    105,487  59,759  45,728  49,694
     Lease origination costs    6,135  2,456  3,679  1,309
     Above-market-rate leases    4,117  2,521  1,596  1,100
     Tenant relationships    929  254  675  715
Leasehold improvements    44,397  25,769  18,628  23,567

     1,848,531  367,125  1,481,406  1,484,421

Real estate investments    88,790  –  88,790  72,489
Properties under development    39,834  –  39,834  36,954
Land held for development/sale    15,305  –  15,305  10,373

    $ 1,992,460 $ 367,125 $ 1,625,335 $ 1,604,237

The following acquisitions were completed during the year ended December 31, 2010:

a)  On July 30, 2010, the Company, together with Morguard REIT, acquired a 50% co-ownership interest in a four-
building office complex comprising approximately 890,000 square feet of leasable area (100%) with 56.0 (100%) 
acres of excess development land, located in Saint-Laurent, Quebec, for a total purchase price of $82,500 (50%) 
plus other acquisition costs of $2,210 (50%).

The final allocation of the total cost of the acquisition is as follows:

total acquisition costs:
     Purchase price – cash     $ 77,425
     Purchase price – assumed liabilities      5,075
     Transaction costs      2,210

     total purchase price     $ 84,710

Allocated to:
     Land      7,110
     Land held for development      5,706
     Buildings      57,025
     Leases in place      6,364
     Lease origination costs      7,902
     Above-market-rate leases      1,210
     Below-market-rate leases      (607)

      $ 84,710

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN THOUSANDS OF CANADIAN DOLL ARS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS
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The acquisition was funded with a $44,000 (50%) first mortgage loan secured by the property and the remainder 
by cash.
b)  A single-tenant retail property for cash of US$4,900. The acquired property is adjacent to a retail shopping 

centre owned by the Company in Slidell, Louisiana.
c)  Nine rental townhomes for cash of US$958 adjacent to the Lake Worth, Florida, apartment community acquired 

on July 31, 2008. These acquisitions bring the total number of rental townhomes owned by the Company to 27.

The following dispositions were completed during the year ended December 31, 2010:
a)  On June 1, 2010, the Company sold a 50% interest in a retail shopping centre located in Grande Prairie, 

Alberta, to Morguard REIT for total sale proceeds of $40,750 resulting in a pre-tax gain on sale of $9,735. As 
part of the sale, Morguard REIT assumed 50% of the mortgage on the property and issued a promissory note 
for $20,000 (see note 5).

b)  The Company sold an industrial real estate property for gross proceeds of $328 (2009 – $6,051), resulting in a 
pre-tax gain of $236 (2009 – $1,471).

Real Estate Investments
On June 30, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to participate in a U.S. limited partnership real estate 
fund. The Company has committed up to US$20,000 for investment in the fund. On November 10, 2010, the 
Company invested US$4,569 in the fund and accounts for its investment using the cost method.

On November 26, 2010, the Company entered into an agreement to invest in the MIL Industrial Fund II Limited 
Partnership (the “MIL Fund”), a real estate fund, whereby an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is 
the general partner. The Company has committed up to $15,000 for investment in the MIL fund. As at December 31, 
2010, the Company invested $90 in the fund and accounts for its investment using the equity method since the 
Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the fund as a result of its role as general partner.

Note 4

InvEstmEnt In moRguaRd REIt
As at December 31, 2010, the Company owned 25,869,405 units (2009 – 25,869,405) of Morguard REIT. The units 
of Morguard REIT trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol MRT.un. The closing price on 
the TSX of Morguard REIT’s units as at December 31, 2010, was $14.71. The book value per unit of the Company’s 
investment in Morguard REIT was $8.17 as at December 31, 2010.

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Investment in Morguard REIT, beginning of the year   $ 229,346 $ 237,874
Equity income    13,109  14,345
Dividends received and receivable    (23,285)  (23,283)
Elimination of gain on sale of Prairie Mall    (8,131)  –
Amortization of cash flow hedge equity accounted    419  410

Investment in Morguard REIT, end of the year   $ 211,458 $ 229,346

During the year ended December 31, 2010, Morguard REIT bought back nil (2009 – 1,988,107) units under its 
normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) for cancellation.
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Note 5

Mortgages and Loans receivabLe
Mortgages and loans receivable consist of the following:

As at December 31    2010  2009

Loans receivable – other   $ 80,989 $ 22,988
Mortgages receivable    4,350  11,545
Loan receivable – ClubLink Enterprises Limited (“ClubLink”)    –  28,400

    $ 85,339 $ 62,933

Loans receivable – other
The Company has a loan agreement with an unrelated third party that bears interest at the 90-day bankers’ 
acceptance rate plus 11.5% per annum plus a fee of 1% on the outstanding balance and is collateralized by a first 
charge on several real estate properties. On November 24, 2010, the Company advanced $75,000 under this 
arrangement. The loan matures on November 24, 2014. The Company earned interest and fees in the amount of 
$1,023 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

On June 17, 2010, the Company provided a $20,000 revolving credit facility at an interest rate of 3.9% to the 
Bramalea City Centre co-ownership, of which the Company owns 20.7%. The purpose of the facility was to bridge 
construction loan advances related to the ongoing redevelopment of Bramalea City Centre (see note 9). The 
Company had advanced $16,500 to the co-ownership and earned interest of $54. The balance outstanding as at 
December 31, 2010, is nil.

The Company has a loan agreement with an unrelated third party that bears interest at the rate of 15% per annum. 
The Company advanced $5,739 under this arrangement and earned interest and commitment fees of $582 during 
the year ended December 31, 2010. The loan is collateralized by units of a publicly traded entity. The loan is 
repayable in full on March 31, 2011.

As part of the sale of a 50% interest in a retail property located in Grande Prairie, Alberta, to Morguard REIT, 
Morguard REIT issued a promissory note for $20,000. The note earned interest at the rate of 6.5% per annum and 
was repaid on November 22, 2010. Interest of $620 was earned during the year ended December 31, 2010.

The Company had a loan agreement with an unrelated third party bearing interest at the 30-day bankers’ acceptance 
rate plus 12% per annum and was collateralized by first charges on several real estate properties. On November 13, 
2009, the Company advanced $34,160 under this arrangement. The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2010, 
is nil, and interest and fees of $1,771 were earned by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2010.

On October 8, 2009, the Company assumed from the Morguard Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (the 
“Morguard Plan”) three mezzanine loans receivable for cash, at their exchange value, which approximated their 
carrying value, totaling $9,860. The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2010, is nil. The Company earned 
interest in the amount of $806 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Mortgages receivable
On September 29, 2010, the Company assumed at its carrying value plus accrued interest from Morguard REIT a $2,000 
vendor take-back note receivable that had been issued to an unrelated third party as part of a disposition of a retail 
property. The note bears interest at an annual interest rate of 5.0%, matures on May 28, 2013, and is collateralized 
by the property. The Company earned interest in the amount of $25 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Other mortgages receivable bear interest at rates that vary from 6.0% to 8.0% (2009 – 0.0% to 8.0%) and are repayable 
between 2011 and 2015.
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Loan Receivable – ClubLink
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with ClubLink that provides for borrowings or advances of up to 
$30,000. During the year ended December 31, 2010, ClubLink repaid $28,400 to reduce the loan balance to nil 
(see note 15).

Note 6

OtheR Assets
Other assets consist of the following:

        2010   2009

    Accumulated Net Book Net Book
As at December 31    Cost Amortization  Value  Value

Accrued pension benefit asset   $ 17,445 $ – $ 17,445 $ 17,571
Prepaid expenses and other    7,562  –  7,562  12,129
Capital assets    15,659  7,031  8,628  4,098
Deferred leasing    7,365  3,408  3,957  1,445
Inventory    1,712  –  1,712  1,745
Restricted cash    1,099  –  1,099  295
Investment in publicly traded securities    –  –  –  8,700

    $ 50,842 $ 10,439 $ 40,403 $ 45,983

Note 7

MORtgAges PAyABLe
Mortgages payable, which are at fixed and floating rates, consist of the following:

As at December 31    2010  2009

Mortgages payable   $ 1,222,916 $ 1,239,935
Deferred direct financing costs    (9,205)  (10,293)

    $ 1,213,711 $ 1,229,642

Range of interest rates    3.8–7.3%  4.1–11.5%
Weighted average interest rate    5.21%  5.31%
Estimated fair market value of mortgages payable   $ 1,238,216 $ 1,212,354

The aggregate principal repayments and balances maturing of the mortgages payable on real estate assets in 
the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

           Weighted
     Principal      Average
     Instalment  Balances    Contractual
     Repayments  Maturing  Total  Rate

2011   $ 26,697 $ 70,074 $ 96,771  5.21%
2012    27,945  66,592  94,537  5.14%
2013    26,703  166,928  193,631  5.17%
2014    20,140  195,941  216,081  5.29%
2015    15,882  135,691  151,573  5.37%
Thereafter    –  –  470,323  5.55%

        $ 1,222,916  5.21%

A significant percentage of the Company’s rental properties and related rental revenues have been pledged as 
collateral for the mortgages payable.
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Note 8

Bank IndeBtedness
The Company has credit facilities and operating lines totaling $116,547 (December 31, 2009 – $116,547). The 
Company’s investment in Morguard REIT, marketable securities, amounts receivable, inventory, capital assets 
and a fixed charge security on specific properties have been pledged as collateral on these credit facilities and 
operating lines. As at December 31, 2010, the Company had borrowed $43,805 (December 31, 2009 – $17,338) and 
issued letters of credit in the amount of $8,467 (December 31, 2009 – $2,029) related to these facilities.

The bank credit agreements include certain restrictive covenants and undertakings by the Company. As at 
December 31, 2010, the Company is in compliance with all covenants and undertakings. As the bank indebtedness 
is current, the carrying value of the debt at December 31, 2010, approximates its fair value.

Note 9

Loan PayaBLe

As at December 31    2010  2009

Loan payable   $ 27,066 $ 20,266

The Company is a 20.7% co-owner of the Bramalea City Centre, a Canadian regional shopping centre, upon which 
a commitment has been issued for $158,000 (Morguard’s share $32,745) to finance a redevelopment. The interest 
rate is a floating rate based on the sum of 105 basis points plus the 30-day Canadian bankers’ acceptance  
rate. The Company’s proportionate share of the construction financing as at December 31, 2010, was $27,066 
(December 31, 2009 – $20,266).

Note 10

CaPItaL stoCk
(a) share Capital authorized
Unlimited common shares, no par value
Unlimited preference shares, no par value, issuable in series

Issued and fully paid common shares (in thousands)    Number  Amount

Balance, December 31, 2008    14,011 $ 124,320
Shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIB    (225)  (2,005)
Employee stock options exercised    86  1,094
Dividend reinvestment plan    –  14

Balance, December 31, 2009    13,872  123,423
Shares repurchased through the Company’s NCIB    (906)  (8,059)
Dividend reinvestment plan    –  15

Balance, december 31, 2010    12,966 $ 115,379

The Company had the approval of the TSX under its normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) to purchase up to 710,069 
common shares. The program expired on September 21, 2010. On September 22, 2010, the Company obtained 
the approval of the TSX under its NCIB to purchase up to 662,857 common shares. The current program expires 
on September 21, 2011.

(b) stock appreciation Rights Plan
The Company has a SARs plan, which entitles specified officers of Morguard and affiliated entities and directors 
to receive a cash payment equal to the excess of the market price of Morguard’s common shares at the time of 
exercise over the grant-date price of the right. The SARs granted will vest equally over 10 years. On March 20, 
2008, 200,000 SARs were granted at an exercise price of $30.74, and on November 2, 2010, 55,000 SARs were 
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granted at an exercise price of $43.39. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded a  
compensation expense of $1,520 ($1,049 net of tax) for the 225,000 SARs relating to its officers and directors. The 
cost of 30,000 SARs granted to two officers of Morguard REIT will be borne by Morguard REIT.

(c) Stock Options
A total of 490,100 stock options (2009 – 490,100) are available for future grants in the employee stock option plan. The 
options vest 20% on each anniversary from the date of grant. There are currently no stock options outstanding.

Note 11

IntereSt expenSe
The components of interest expense are as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Interest on mortgages   $ 64,415 $ 66,706
Interest on bank indebtedness    1,070  1,364
Amortization of deferred direct financing costs    2,166  1,944
Amortization of cash flow hedge    935  1,187
Interest on loans payable and other    228  345

    $ 68,814 $ 71,546

Note 12

AmOrtIzAtIOn
The components of amortization expense are as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Real estate properties and deferred leasing costs   $ 52,467 $ 52,752
Intangible assets    9,172  12,955
Capital assets    1,522  1,224

    $ 63,161 $ 66,931

Note 13

Other IncOme (expenSe), net
The components of other income (expense) are as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Dividend, interest and other income   $ 10,301 $ 8,432
Realized gain on sale of available-for-sale marketable securities    1,230  –
Debt transaction costs    (85)  (412)
Cost of early extinguishment of mortgages and loans payable    –  (323)

    $ 11,446 $ 7,697

Note 14

prOvISIOn fOr ImpAIrment Of reAl eStAte prOpertIeS
On an annual basis, and when indicators of impairment exist, Canadian GAAP requires the Company to determine 
whether the net carrying amount of real estate properties is recoverable from future undiscounted cash flows. If 
the total of the undiscounted future cash flows, excluding financing charges, is less than the carrying amount of 
the asset, an asset impairment charge must be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, 
land held for future development is carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. During 2010, the 
Company recorded a provision of $209 to reduce the carrying value of land held for future development located 
in Florida, U.S.
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During 2009, the Company recorded a provision of $5,103 to reduce the carrying value of one multi-unit residential 
property located in Florida, U.S., and a provision of $450 on an industrial property located in London, Ontario. 
The Company also recorded a provision of $2,176 to reduce the carrying value of land held for future development 
located in Florida, U.S.

Note 15

Related PaRty tRansactions
Related party transactions are summarized as follows:

(a) Morguard Reit
Management and Advisory Fees
In the ordinary course of business, the Company derives management fees and other revenues from Morguard 
REIT, which is subject to significant influence. Transactions with Morguard REIT are recorded at the exchange 
amount, which is based on the consideration given for the service provided. As at December 31, 2010, a net amount 
of $604 is receivable from Morguard REIT (December 31, 2009 – $147). Such transactions with Morguard REIT for 
the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, are summarized as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Consolidated statements of income:
Property management and other fees   $ 8,166 $ 7,007
Leasing fees    3,780  2,141
Property administration fees    1,376  839
Rental expense    (323)  (299)

    $ 12,999 $ 9,688

Loan Agreement With Morguard REIT
The Company has a revolving loan agreement with Morguard REIT that provides for either party to borrow up to 
$30,000, at each party’s bank borrowing rate, which can be priced at either the prime rate or the bankers’ acceptance 
rate plus applicable stamping fees. There was no borrowing by either party for the year ended December 31, 
2010. During the year ended December 31, 2009, Morguard REIT borrowed $25,000, which was repaid on 
September 21, 2009. The interest earned for the year ended December 31, 2009, was $54.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, Morguard borrowed $22,000 from Morguard REIT, which was repaid 
on December 14, 2009. The interest paid was $45.

(b) clublink enterprises limited
The Company provides ClubLink with managerial and consulting services for its business and the business of  
its subsidiaries. Mr. K. (Rai) Sahi is chairman and Chief Executive Officer and is a major shareholder of ClubLink 
through his holding company, Paros Enterprises Limited (“Paros”). Mr. Sahi is chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Company. Paros is also a major shareholder of the Company. The Company received a management fee of 
$240 for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 – $240) from ClubLink under a contractual agreement.

(c) share/Unit Purchase loans
Share/unit purchase loans to officers and employees of the Company, its subsidiaries and Morguard REIT of $5,898 
(December 31, 2009 – $6,891) are outstanding as at December 31, 2010. The loans are collateralized by the shares 
of the Company and the units of Morguard REIT and are interest-bearing computed at the Canadian prime interest 
rate and are due between 2011 and 2015. The fair market value of the shares/units held as collateral is $29,701. 
Additionally, as at December 31, 2010, a net amount of $368 (December 31, 2009 – $329) is receivable from Paros.

(d) Renasant Financial Partners ltd.
The Company derives management and consulting fees from Renasant Financial Partners Ltd. (“Renasant”). Paros 
is the majority shareholder of Renasant. The Company received a management fee of $300 (2009 – $300) for the 
year ended December 31, 2010, under a contractual agreement.
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Note 16

Income Taxes
(a) The Company’s effective income tax rate is derived as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Income taxes at statutory rate   $ 19,705 $ 11,962
Change in substantively enacted tax rates    72  (9,821)
Capital gains    (1,456)  –
Change in the valuation allowance    2,701  5,500
Other    (1,739)  (128)

    $ 19,283 $ 7,513

(b) The components of consolidated future income taxes are as follows:

  2010   2009

Years ended December 31    canada  U.s.  Canada  U.S.

Real estate assets   $ (102,370) $ 16,794 $ (104,231) $ 14,330
Investments    (28,200)  –  (28,981)  –
Interest deferred for U.S. tax purposes    –  2,563  –  2,661
Non-capital losses benefited    –  8,349  722  6,928
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income    (86)  –  (300)  –
Deferred financing costs    (341)  –  (472)  –
Valuation allowance    –  (27,541)  –  (23,873)
Pension asset    (4,393)  –  (4,541)  –
Others    (2,364)  (165)  (1,048)  (46)

Total net future income tax liability   $ (137,754) $ – $ (138,851) $ –

(c)  The Company has U.S. net operating losses of approximately US$22,148 (2009 – US$18,920) that expire in vary-
ing years commencing in 2026 and Canadian non-capital losses of nil (2009 – $2,160).

Note 17

Income Per share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per share:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Net income – basic   $ 44,552 $ 30,291

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic    13,565  14,044

Weighted average common shares outstanding – diluted    13,565  14,044

Net income per share – basic and diluted    $3.28  $2.16
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Note 18

Consolidated statements of Cash flows

(a) items not affecting Cash

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Equity income from Morguard REIT – continuing operations   $ (12,960) $ (12,788)
Non-controlling interest    (159)  (74)
Amortization    63,161  66,931
Amortization – above/below market leases    (2,559)  (3,779)
Amortization – cash flow hedge    935  1,186
Amortization – deferred financing    2,166  1,944
Amortization – other    (234)  (855)
Future income taxes    2,312  (4,250)
Gain on sale of assets    (11,201)  (1,471)
Stepped rent – adjustment for straight-line method    (1,298)  (1,496)
Provision for impairment of real estate properties    209  7,729
Other    306  –

    $ 40,678 $ 53,077

(b) net Change in operating assets and liabilities

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Amounts receivable   $ 1,641 $ (4,949)
Other assets    2,314  4,550
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    (1,542)  533

Net change in operating assets and liabilities   $ 2,413 $ 134

(c) supplemental Cash flow information

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Interest paid   $ 65,492 $ 68,351
Income taxes paid    25,456  14,599
Non-cash dividend issued under dividend reinvestment plan    15  14

Note 19

employee future Benefits
The Company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering certain employees under the 
Morguard Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (the “Morguard Plan”). This plan provides benefits based on 
length of service and final average earnings. There is only one active member since the majority of members 
were employed in the Company’s industrial products distribution business, which was sold in 1996. The pension 
obligations and related assets for the former employees remain part of the Company’s defined benefit pension 
plan. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of December 31, 2009.

Effective January 1, 2008, the Morguard Plan was amended and restated in its entirety to consist of the existing 
defined benefit provisions and new defined contribution provisions. Employees who accrued benefits under the 
Morguard Plan on December 31, 2007, shall continue to participate in the defined benefit provisions of the 
Morguard Plan on and after January 1, 2008, and are not eligible to participate in the new defined contribution 
provisions. Employees of the Company who were formerly employees of Morguard Residential Inc. and new 
employees of the Company will participate under the defined contribution provisions, upon completion of the 
applicable waiting period, effective January 1, 2008.

Morguard Investments Limited Employees’ Retirement Plan (“MIL Plan”) is a defined benefit plan that provides 
benefits based on years of service, years of contributions and annual earnings.
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Effective January 1, 2008, all members of the MIL Plan ceased to accrue future benefits under the MIL Plan and 
commenced participation under the new defined contribution provisions of the Morguard Plan. No assets or  
liabilities will transfer from the MIL Plan to the new Morguard Plan in respect of benefits accrued to December 31, 
2007, in respect of MIL Plan members. Accrued benefits under the MIL Plan shall be determined using credited 
service and benefit entitlement as of December 31, 2007.

Membership is a requirement after a defined term of employment and age. Funding of the MIL Plan is  
provided by contributions from MIL. Certain employees who commenced employment prior to January 1, 1997, 
elected to contribute to the MIL Plan and receive a higher benefit. The most recent actuarial valuation was as of 
December 31, 2010.

Details of the pension expense and year-end disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, are 
provided below:

  2010   2009

Assumptions for Disclosure – Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIL

Discount rate    5.40%  5.40%  6.25%  6.25%
Rate of compensation increase    3.50%  3.50%  3.50%  3.50%

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the Company’s benefit expenses for the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, are as follows:

  2010   2009

Assumptions for Expense – Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIL

Discount rate    6.25%  6.25%  7.50%  7.50%
Expected return on plan assets    6.00%  6.00%  6.50%  6.50%
Rate of compensation increase    3.50%  3.50%  3.00%  3.00%
Expected average remaining service life    20 years  14 years  21 years  15 years

Information about the Company’s defined benefit plans is as follows:

  2010   2009

As at December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIL

Accrued benefit obligations
Balance at beginning of year   $ 56,128 $ 23,092 $ 52,178 $ 19,788
Current service cost    62  –  51  –
Interest cost    3,381  1,394  3,735  1,438
Benefits paid    (4,205)  (791)  (4,038)  (1,528)
Actuarial loss    2,721  2,032  4,201  3,394

Balance at end of year    58,087  25,727  56,127  23,092

Plan assets
Fair value at beginning of year    90,051  24,139  73,919  19,849
Actual return on plan assets    13,694  3,679  21,830  5,747
Employer contributions    –  72  –  72
Benefits paid    (4,205)  (791)  (4,038)  (1,528)
Employer’s contributions for defined contribution plan    (1,787)  –  (1,661)  –

Fair value at end of year    97,753  27,099  90,050  24,140

Funded status – surplus    39,666  1,372  33,923  1,048
Unamortized net actuarial gain    (23,047)  (1,596)  (17,692)  (1,353)
Unamortized transitional obligation    1,105  –  1,657  –

Accrued benefit asset (liability)   $ 17,724 $ (224) $ 17,888 $ (305)
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In 2010, MIL made incremental contributions of $72 to the defined benefit plan (2009 – $72) and the Company 
contributed $1,812 to the defined contribution plan (2009 – $1,686).

  2010   2009

Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIL

Current service cost   $ 62 $ – $ 51 $ –
Interest cost    3,381  1,394  3,735  1,438
Actual return on plan assets    (13,694)  (3,678)  (21,830)  (5,747)
Actuarial loss on accrued benefit obligation    2,721  2,032  4,201  3,394

Costs arising in the year    (7,530)  (252)  (13,843)  (915)
Difference between costs arising in the year
   and costs recognized in the year in respect of:
     Return on plan assets    8,471  2,275  17,378  4,533
     Actuarial gain    (3,116)  (2,032)  (4,201)  (3,394)
     Transitional obligation    552  –  552  –

Benefit plan (income) expense    (1,623)  (9)  (114)  224
Chargeback to managed properties    –  (119)  –  (205)

Net benefit plan (income) expense   $ (1,623) $ (128) $ (114) $ 19

  2010   2009

Years ended December 31    Company  MIL  Company  MIL
Plan Assets by Asset Category    %  %  %  %

Equity securities    45  45  41  41
Debt securities    47  47  56  56
Other    8  8  3  3

     100  100  100  100

The Morguard Plan holds 362,618 shares of the Company and 105,263 units of Morguard REIT.

Net benefit plan (income) expense is recorded in property management and administration costs.

Note 20

CoMMItMeNts aNd CoNtINgeNCIes
(a) Commitments
Future minimum annual rental payments for land leases, office premises and equipment operating leases that 
expire at various dates ending in 2069 are payable over the next five years and thereafter as follows:

2011     $ 6,000
2012      5,642
2013      5,296
2014      3,445
2015      3,266
Thereafter      128,219

The Company is a lessee under five ground leases that expire at various dates ending in 2060. Annual rental 
expenses for each of the ground leases are as follows:

Ground Lease #1

From July 1, 1990, to June 30, 2010 $           2,779
From July 1, 2010, to June 30, 2030 Fair market value of land at June 2010 multiplied by 6%
From July 1, 2030, to June 30, 2050 Fair market value of land at June 2030 multiplied by 6%
From July 1, 2050, to June 30, 2060 Fair market value of land at June 2050 multiplied by 6%
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In accordance with the lease terms of Ground Lease #1, the land rent cannot decrease at July 1, 2010, July 1, 2030, 
or July 1, 2050. Accordingly, the current rent expense of $2,779 represents the future minimum annual payment 
until the expiry of the ground lease. Further details of the status of the rental reset that was scheduled for July 1, 
2010, are disclosed below in the contingencies section of this note.

The Company has four other ground leases that expire between June 30, 2022, and July 21, 2069. The Company 
is required to pay an annual base rent totaling $422. The ground leases have various terms that require potential 
additional payments based on rent collected and cash flow.

The Company has entered into various leasing agreements and agreements for the development of properties. 
At December 31, 2010, committed leasing costs and capital expenditures are estimated to be $112 and $632, 
respectively.

(b) Contingencies
As indicated above, Ground Lease #1, which expires on June 30, 2060, was scheduled to be reset to 6% of the fair 
market value of the land effective July 1, 2010. Also in accordance with the terms of the lease, since the lessor and 
the Company were not able to reach an agreement on the revised annual rental payment, the matter will be 
appointed to an arbitrator that will determine the revised annual rental. Due to the complexities involved in 
determining the fair market value of the annual ground rent and since the final outcome of this matter cannot be 
predicted or estimated with certainty, the Company continues to reflect the previous rent expense of $2,779 per 
annum in the property operating expenses of the consolidated statements of income. As the arbitration proceedings 
progress, the Company will review and amend the amount of the rental expense as required. The final settlement 
of the proceedings in excess of amounts recorded will be charged to operations as and when such determination 
is made.

The Company has issued irrevocable letters of credit relating to normal course development activity amounting 
to $10,768 as at December 31, 2010 (2009 – $3,945).

In addition, the Company is contingently liable with respect to litigation, claims and environmental matters that 
arise from time to time, including those that could result in mandatory damages or other relief, which could result 
in significant expenditures. While the final outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, in the 
opinion of management, any liability that may arise from such contingencies would not have a material adverse 
effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company. Any settlement of claims in excess of 
amounts recorded will be charged to operations as and when such determination is made.

(c) Rent Control Regulations
In the province of Ontario, the Company is subject to, and believes it has complied with, the Residential Tenancies 
Act, 2006. Each year the Ontario government announces the province’s residential rent increase guideline for the 
following year. In 2010 the rental guideline increase was 2.1% (2009 – 1.8%).
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Note 21

ProPortionately Consolidated Co-ownershiP interests
The following amounts, included in these consolidated financial statements, represent the Company’s propor-
tionate share in co-ownership interests:

As at December 31    2010  2009

Balance sheet
Assets   $ 248,254 $ 157,683
Liabilities    213,564  142,054

equity   $ 34,690 $ 15,629

For the years ended December 31    2010  2009

statement of operations
Revenue   $ 56,268 $ 45,646
Expenses    46,796  39,034

income from operations   $ 9,472 $ 6,612

statement of cash flows
Cash flows resulting from:
Operating activities   $ 28,964 $ 13,359
Financing activities    66,927  (1,188)
Investing activities    (88,209)  (6,836)

The Company includes in its consolidated balance sheets the proportionate share of the assets and liabilities of 
its joint ventures. The Company is contingently liable for the other participants’ portion of the liabilities of these 
joint ventures. The contingent liability is approximately $93,642 at December 31, 2010. Against this contingent 
liability, the Company has recourse to all of the assets of the joint ventures to the extent they are required to pay 
liabilities in excess of their proportionate share. The net carrying value of the assets of these joint ventures 
exceeds this contingent liability.

Note 22

ManageMent of CaPital
The Company defines capital that it manages as the aggregate of its shareholders’ equity and interest-bearing 
debt less mortgages and loans receivable and cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s objective when managing 
capital is to ensure that the Company will continue as a going concern so that it can sustain daily operations and 
provide adequate returns to its shareholders.

The Company is subject to risks associated with debt financing, including the possibility that existing mortgages 
may not be refinanced or may not be refinanced on as favourable terms or with interest rates as favourable as 
those of the existing debt. The Company mitigates these risks by its continued efforts to stagger the maturity 
profile of its long-term debt, enhance the value of its real estate properties, maintain high occupancy levels and 
foster excellent relations with its lenders. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to 
it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
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The total managed capital for the Company is summarized below:

As at December 31    2010  2009

Mortgages payable   $ 1,213,711 $ 1,229,642
Bank indebtedness    43,805  17,338
Loan payable    27,066  20,266
Mortgages and loans receivable    (85,339)  (62,933)
Cash and cash equivalents    (27,535)  (40,866)

Net debt    1,171,708  1,163,447
Equity    557,071  564,647

    $ 1,728,779 $ 1,728,094

The Company monitors capital based on an interest coverage ratio and a debt to aggregate asset ratio. The 
Company is also required to maintain a minimum level of consolidated equity. The Company’s policy for capital 
risk management is driven by external requirements from certain of its lenders. The Company is required to 
maintain an interest coverage ratio of 1.8 times, a debt to aggregate asset ratio of no greater than 65% and  
consolidated equity at all times equal to or greater than $425,000.

Interest coverage ratio is defined as income before interest expense, non-controlling interest, income taxes, 
non-recurring gains or losses and amortization over interest expense. Debt to aggregate asset ratio is defined 
as mortgages and other debt payable over total consolidated assets of the Company plus the amount of  
accumulated amortization related to real estate and other assets.

The ratios at December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2009, were as follows:

Years ended December 31    2010  2009

Interest coverage ratio    2.68X  2.43X
Debt to aggregate asset ratio    53.5%  53.8%

At December 31, 2010, the Company met all externally imposed ratios and the minimum equity requirements.

Note 23

Financial instruments and risk management
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities comprise cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, mortgages 
and loans receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank indebtedness, mortgages payable and 
loan payable. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities and discussion of risks associated with financial assets 
and liabilities are presented as follows.

Fair Value of Financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
bank indebtedness approximate their carrying value due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The 
fair values of mortgages and loans receivable are based on the current market conditions for financing loans with 
similar terms and risks. The loan payable is reflected at fair value since it is based on a floating interest rate.

Mortgages payable are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization. The estimated 
fair values of long-term borrowings have been determined based on market information, where available, or by 
discounting future payments of interest and principal at estimated interest rates expected to be available to the 
Company at period end.
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The fair value of the mortgages payable has been determined by discounting the cash flows of these financial 
obligations using December 31, 2010, market rates for debts of similar terms (Category Level 2). Based on these 
assumptions, the fair value as at December 31, 2010, of the mortgages payable before deferred financing costs 
is estimated at $1,238,216 (December 31, 2009 – $1,212,354) compared with the carrying value of $1,222,916 
(December 31, 2009 – $1,239,935). The fair value of the mortgages and bonds payable varies from the carrying 
value due to fluctuations in interest rates since their issue.

The Company refinanced three real estate properties during December 2008. To mitigate the interest rate risk 
on the refinancing of these mortgages, in November 2008, the Company entered into three interest rate swap 
transactions to acquire a fixed rate over the floating rate on a notional amount of $153,335 with an effective date 
of December 31, 2008, and maturing on December 31, 2013.

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value on the balance sheet is as follows:

  2010   2009

As at December 31  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Financial assets:
Investment in publicly 
   traded securities $ – $ – $ – $ 8,700 $ – $ –

Financial liabilities:
Interest rate swap liability  –  3,095  –  –  1,331  –

Risks Associated With Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Company is exposed to financial risks arising from its financial assets and liabilities. The financial risks include 
market risk relating to interest rates and foreign exchange rates, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s 
overall risk management program focuses on establishing policies to identify and analyze the risks faced by  
the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk  
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Company’s activities. The Company aims to develop a disciplined control environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk, the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to 
movements in market prices, comprises the following:

Interest Rate Risk
The Company is subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit 
facilities will not be refinanced on terms as favourable as those of the existing indebtedness. Interest on the 
Company’s bank indebtedness and certain mortgages is subject to floating interest rates. For the year ended 
December 31, 2010, the increase or decrease in annual net income for each one percent change in interest rates 
on floating rate debt amounts to $523.

The Company’s objective of managing interest rate risk is to minimize the volatility of the Company’s income. As 
at December 31, 2010, interest rate risk has been minimized, as the majority of long-term debt is financed at fixed 
interest rates with maturities scheduled over a number of years. Mortgages totaling $153,335 are subject to floating 
interest rates; however, the Company’s risk has been minimized as the Company entered into three interest rate 
swap transactions to acquire a fixed rate in substitution for the floating rate.
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Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as it relates to its U.S. investments due to fluctuations in the 
exchange rate between Canadian and U.S. dollars. Changes in the exchange rate may result in a reduction or an 
increase of reported earnings and other comprehensive income. For the year ended December 31, 2010, a $0.05 
change in the U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate would have resulted in a $1,037 change to net income or loss 
and a $2,021 change to comprehensive income or loss.

The Company’s objective of managing foreign exchange risk is to mitigate the exposure from fluctuations in the 
exchange rate by maintaining U.S. denominated debt against its U.S. assets. The Company currently does not 
hedge translation exposures.

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial asset will default, resulting in the Company incurring a 
financial loss. A substantial portion of the Company’s amounts receivable is with retail tenants and individuals 
and is subject to normal industry credit risks.

The objective of managing credit risk is to mitigate exposure through the use of approved credit policies governing 
the Company’s credit practices that limit transactions according to counterparties’ credit quality.

The carrying amount of amounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount 
of the loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of income within property operating expenses. When a 
receivable balance is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance for amounts receivable. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in the  
consolidated statements of income.

The following table sets forth details of trade receivables and the related allowance for doubtful accounts:

As at December 31    2010  2009

Trade receivables   $ 3,579 $ 4,438
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts    (741)  (948)

Total amounts receivable, net   $ 2,838 $ 3,490

(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liability obligations. The 
Company will be subject to the risks associated with debt financing, including the risk that mortgages and credit 
facilities will not be able to be refinanced. The Company’s objectives in minimizing liquidity risk are to maintain 
appropriate levels of leverage on its real estate assets and to stagger the debt maturity profile. At December 31, 
2010, the Company was holding cash and cash equivalents of $27,535 and had undrawn lines of credit available 
to it of $64,275.

The fair value of the interest rate swaps for the year ended December 31, 2010, is a loss position of $3,095 (2009 – 
$1,331), which is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Included 
in other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010, is a loss of $1,330 (2009 – $992), net of 
future income taxes of $434 (2009 – $339), that relates to the effective portion of the net change in fair value of 
the interest rate swaps.
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Note 24

Segmented InformatIon
The Company operates primarily in two operating segments, real estate investment and management and  
corporate operations. Real estate investment is defined to include property ownership and development. 
Management and corporate operations include property management and advisory services, as well as  
corporate operations.

  2010   2009

   real estate management    Real Estate Management
Years ended December 31  operations  & Corporate  total  Operations  & Corporate  Total

Income from real estate properties $ 277,762 $  – $ 277,762 $ 280,202 $  – $ 280,202
Fees and other revenue, including
   sales of product and land  1,045  71,160  72,205  –  68,565  68,565

revenue  278,807  71,160  349,967  280,202  68,565  348,767

Property operating expenses  125,932  –  125,932  129,276  –  129,276
Property management,
   administration and cost of sales  9,835  52,828  62,663  8,088  50,583  58,671
Interest  68,785  29  68,814  71,437  109  71,546
Equity income from Morguard REIT  (12,960)  –  (12,960)  (12,788)  –  (12,788)
Amortization  62,087  1,074  63,161  65,804  1,127  66,931

Income before other income
   (expense), income taxes and
   non-controlling interest  25,128  17,229  42,357  18,385  16,746  35,131

Gain on sale of property  9,971  –  9,971  1,471  –  1,471
Other income, net  3,686  7,760  11,446  3,667  4,030  7,697
Provision for impairment
   of real estate properties  (209)  –  (209)  (7,729)  –  (7,729)

Income before income taxes,
   non-controlling interest and
   discontinued operations $ 38,576 $ 24,989 $ 63,565 $ 15,794 $ 20,776 $ 36,570

  2010   2009

   real estate management    Real Estate Management
As at December 31  operations  & Corporate  total  Operations  & Corporate  Total

Other assets $ 1,857,003 $ 124,742 $ 1,981,745 $ 1,843,879 $ 130,536 $ 1,974,415
Goodwill and intangible assets, net  51,678  24,488  76,166  52,818  24,488  77,306

total assets $ 1,908,681 $ 149,230 $ 2,057,911 $ 1,896,697 $ 155,024 $ 2,051,721

additions to real estate properties 
   and capital assets $ 125,737 $ 6,050 $ 131,787 $ 36,383 $ 1,002 $ 37,385

Revenue from real estate assets is disclosed separately in the consolidated statements of income as “income 
from real estate properties”. Revenue from property management and other activities is included in “management 
and advisory fees” and “sales of product and land”. All inter-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
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The existing real estate operations operate across four property types located in three major geographical  
locations across Canada, as well as the southeastern United States. The Company operates to ensure an appropriate 
mix of property type and geographical location. Additional information with respect to real estate assets is  
outlined below:

  2010   2009

    Net     Net
   Total Operating  Real Estate  Total Operating  Real Estate
Years ended December 31  Revenue  Income  Properties  Revenue  Income  Properties

By property type
Residential $ 128,899 $ 67,521 $ 712,417 $ 128,916 $ 65,229 $ 738,019
Retail  78,370  46,763  376,381  85,048  50,386  423,038
Office and industrial  70,493  37,546  392,608  66,238  35,311  323,364

  $ 277,762 $ 151,830 $ 1,481,406 $ 280,202 $ 150,926 $ 1,484,421

Geographic
Canada $ 214,440 $ 115,297 $ 1,076,505 $ 210,624 $ 109,784 $ 1,050,176
USA  63,322  36,533  404,901  69,578  41,142  434,245

  $ 277,762 $ 151,830 $ 1,481,406 $ 280,202 $ 150,926 $ 1,484,421

For purposes of the segmented information, real estate properties are defined as real estate properties excluding 
properties under development, land held for development/sale and real estate investments at cost.

Net operating income represents income from real estate properties, net of property operating expenses, and 
is a measure used by management to monitor segment performance.

Note 25

COmPaRaTIvE CONsOlIdaTEd FINaNCIal sTaTEmENTs
The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from statements previously presented 
to conform to the presentation of the 2010 consolidated financial statements.

Note 26

subsEquENT EvENTs
On January 3, 2011, the Company renewed one of its credit facilities with a Canadian chartered bank. The availability 
of borrowings under the renewed credit facility was increased from $50,000 to $100,000. Under the renewed 
credit facility, the Company has the option to borrow funds in U.S. dollars.

On January 5, 2011, the Company advanced $4,000 to ClubLink under its revolving loan agreement (see note 5). 
On February 4, 2011, ClubLink repaid the balance of the loan.

On January 21, 2011, the Company advanced $5,269 to the MIL Fund to fund its portion of the equity required to 
purchase two real estate properties.

On February 28, 2011, the Company acquired a retail, unenclosed shopping centre in southeastern Florida  
comprising 224,000 square feet for a purchase price of US$59 million. The acquisition was funded with cash.
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Morguard Corporation owns and manages a diversified portfolio compris-
ing more than 54 million square feet of high-quality commercial properties 
and over 12,600 multi-unit residential suites. With a reputation for bold 
leadership, proven results and steady, long-term growth, the Company 
employs over 1,300 dedicated employees in Canada and the southeastern 
United States. 

Morguard focuses on three primary businesses: 

Real eState SeRviCeS
Morguard serves major institutional clients and private investors by providing 
a full range of real estate services. these include acquisitions, development, 
asset management, property management and research and valuation 
services.

Real PRoPeRty inveStMentS  
Morguard owns a diversified portfolio of 100 retail, multi-unit residential, 
office and industrial properties located in major cities across Canada and 
the southeastern United States.

Real eState inveStMent tRUSt
Morguard Reit is a publicly traded, closed-ended trust that offers investors 
the opportunity to participate in a high-quality portfolio of office, retail 
and mixed-use Canadian real estate assets.
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